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 HIGHLIGHTS OF 2022

Corporate 
  �Mincor has proudly returned to the ranks of an  
Australian nickel producer, with the ramp up of the 
Kambalda Nickel Operations (KNO) now well underway.  

  �A$60.0 million Share Placement and A$6.3 million 
Share Purchase Plan completed to fund the 
development of the KNO, enable construction 
of a new accommodation facility for the Cassini 
operations, increase exploration activities at Hartley, 
Golden Mile and other regional prospects and an 
improved debt arrangement with BNP Paribas. 

  �Replacement of the A$55.0 million Project Finance 
Facility with a new A$30.0 million Revolving Corporate 
Credit Facility. 

  �Cash at bank of A$79.1 million at 30 June 2022.

  �The Company announced a leadership transition with 
Managing Director David Southam deciding to step 
down. He will be succeeded by highly experienced 
mining executive Gabrielle Iwanow in November 2022.



Kambalda Nickel Operations 
  �First ore processed through the Kambalda Nickel 
Concentrator (NKC) owned and operated by BHP 
Nickel West (BHP) and receipt of first cashflow totalling 
A$25.3 million (net proceeds) in June 2022.

  �The receipt of first sales revenue marked Mincor’s 
restart of KNO after the outlay of A$98.0million, 
approximately 8% below expenditure forecast in the 
2020 Definitive Feasibility Study of A$107.0 million. 

  �Underground development continued at both Cassini 
and the Northern Operations through the year. The 
extraction of first nickel development ore at Cassini in 
March 2022 marked a significant milestone as the first 
new Kambalda nickel mine to be developed in over a 
decade. 

  �Enhanced Ore Tolling and Offtake Purchase 
Agreement (OTCPA) finalised with BHP in April 2022, 
with sales now based on imputed nickel concentrate, 
calculated upon ore delivery. 

  ��Major capital works complete, with the new Cassini 
accommodation village expected to be operational in 
the December 2022 quarter. 

  ��Lost-time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) maintained at 
zero throughout the reporting period.

Exploration & Growth 
  �Outstanding drilling success in the previously untested 
gap between Durkin North and Long mines, the 
“Golden Mile” resulted in significant new Mineral 
Resource known as the LN04a1:

  ��Initial Mineral Resource of 576kt at 3.9% Ni for 
22,600 Ni tonnes;

  �71% of the Mineral Resource classified as 
Indicated;

  �41% increase in the Northern Operations global 
Mineral Resource (Long/Durkin North)1; and 

  ��Notably, the new ore surface is close to existing 
underground infrastructure and is based on just 
the first stage of a continuing drill program. 

  �Several massive sulphide intercepts announced at the 
Hartley greenfields prospect within an interpreted 3km 
channel, with the highlight being MDD373W2 which 
returned 4.5m @ 3.3% Ni. 

1  Mineral Resource estimate completed in July 2022 (see ASX announcement on 25 July 2022).



 FOCUS FOR THE YEAR AHEAD

Continue to ramp up to full production at 
both Cassini and Northern Operations. 

Continue to expand recently delineated initial 
Mineral Resource estimate for the LN04a 
surface at the Golden Mile.

Deliver on our commitment to achieve nickel 
production with a low carbon footprint and 
minimal land disturbance.

Pursue the delineation of potential new ore 
surfaces at Cassini, with exploration targeting 
further Mineral Resource growth and mine 
life extensions.

Advance regional exploration,  
focusing on our extensive regional 
exploration portfolio.
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MISSION AND VALUES
TO BUILD A SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS FOR THE BENEFIT OF ALL STAKEHOLDERS,  
THE MINCOR WAY

MANAGE	 We safely Manage the business with leadership and accountability.

INNOVATIVE	 We are open-minded, foster Innovative ideas and act like owners.

NIMBLE	 We are Nimble; adaptable and able to rapidly respond to change.

CARE	 We Care about our people, the environment and our community.

OPPORTUNITY	 We create Opportunity, with a culture of continuous improvement.

RESPECT	 We act with integrity and treat everyone with Respect.



Dear Shareholders, 
I am very pleased to present our 2022 Annual Report 
and in doing so, take a moment to reflect on what has 
been an exceptional year for Mincor, a year in which we 
recommenced nickel production at our Kambalda Nickel 
Operations – on time, below forecast expenditure and 
most importantly, with zero lost-time injuries. 

Financial year 2022 certainly presented a number of 
challenges. From the continuing reverberations and 
fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic to cost inflation, 
supply disruptions and labour shortages in the WA 
resource sector, as well as inflationary fears and interest 
rate hikes in the Australian market. In early 2022, a 
historic ‘short squeeze’ occurred, which briefly drove the 
LME nickel price to over US$100,000/t, before settling 
back to present levels - a more measured, but still 
transformational realisation that nickel is on the cusp of a 
new era of demand. 

Finally, the long talked about consolidation in the nickel 
sector moved up a gear with IGO Limited’s acquisition of 
Western Areas Limited and in doing so, solidified Mincor’s 
importance in the Western Australian nickel landscape 
as the largest independent high grade nickel sulphide 
producer.

Against this backdrop, I am proud to say that Mincor stuck 
steadfast to its strategy, continued to de-risk its nickel 
operations, never lost focus and remained resolutely 
committed to delivering on its undertakings to the market 
and shareholders. 

Delivering on time and within forecast 
expenditure
The successful execution of our development plan for 
KNO was, without question, the major highlight and key 
achievement of the year. 

Following a successful construction and development 
program, our operations team intersected first nickel 
ore at the Northern Operations in December 2021, with 
a new high grade ore surface intersected 36m prior 
to the target zone on the 485 Level at Durkin North, 
demonstrating the exceptional upside potential that 
exists in the near mine environment at KNO.

In the March 2022 quarter, first nickel ore was extracted 
from the Cassini mine, the first new nickel mine to be 
developed in Kambalda in more than a decade.

We issued a Start Notice to our offtake partner, BHP 
Nickel West (BHP) in late 2021 and began stockpiling 
ore at BHP’s Kambalda Nickel Concentrator (NKC) in the 
March 2022 quarter.

Following the successful refurbishment of the 
concentrator by BHP, processing of Mincor’s ore 
commenced in the June 2022 quarter under an 
enhanced, modern offtake agreement. The successful 
finalisation of our offtake arrangements with BHP was 
an important achievement for the Company and one of 
which our team should be very proud. 

First cashflow from KNO was received in June 2022, with 
net proceeds of A$25.3 million, representing the initial 
90% payment for imputed nickel-in-concentrate for ore 
deliveries up to 31 May 2022. This was a huge milestone 
which marked our transition from explorer and developer 
to a producer. 

The receipt of first sales revenue marked the restart of 
KNO after an outlay of A$98.0 million, approximately 
8% below the forecast expenditure of A$107.0 million. 
Major capital works are now predominantly complete, 
with the last significant capital item, the new Cassini 
accommodation village, expected to be fully operational in 
December.

Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
Following the delivery of our inaugural Sustainability 
Report in FY2021, Mincor has continued to build on 
our sustainability platform, enhancing our reporting 
frameworks and increasing engagement with 
communities we operate in.

We remain focused on clearly enhancing our corporate 
culture to drive leadership in responsible mining and 
thoughtful community engagement. Our ESG approach 
is based on ensuring alignment with globally relevant 
sustainability goals while delivering ‘real action on the 
ground’.

 �CHAIRMAN’S  
REPORT
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A$96.0million debt and equity funding  
package secured
During the year, we completed a strongly supported 
A$60.0 million Share Placement, A$6.3 million Share 
Purchase Plan and secured a A$30.0 million Revolving 
Credit Facility.

This funding package replaced the Project Finance 
Facility that initially supported the commencement of 
our development programs at Kambalda and provided 
additional capital to fund construction of the new state-
of-the-art Cassini accommodation village and step up 
exploration activities. I would like to thank all investors 
who participated in these important funding initiatives.

The Revolving Credit Facility from BNP Paribas provides 
Mincor with increased balance sheet flexibility during the 
production ramp up. This is an attractive form of funding 
not generally available to a company at the project 
development stage and I believe Mincor’s ability to secure 
this facility reflects the high regard in which the Company 
is held and the financial robustness of our projects.

Mincor remains well funded to continue to progress our 
growth initiatives, with cash at bank of A$79.1 million at 
30 June 2022.

Golden Mile Exploration Success
Our exploration team has continued to deliver 
outstanding success in the near mine environment, with 
our efforts during the year primarily focused on the 
‘Golden Mile’, the 1.1km corridor between Durkin North 
and Long mines.

The key highlight in this area was the discovery of the 
LN04a mineralised surface, for which the Company 
reported a maiden Mineral Resource Estimate in July 
2022 of 576,000 tonnes grading 3.9% nickel for 22,600 
tonnes of contained nickel. This new surface remains 
open in several directions and is located close to existing 
mining infrastructure, providing clear scope for the 
incorporation of this new discovery into the mine plan.

Drilling activities at the Golden Mile, including extensional 
drilling at LN04a, will continue throughout FY2023.

Regional Exploration
Further afield, our regional drilling campaign has provided 
positive results from the Hartley Prospect (previously 
named ‘Location 1’), a greenfields target that covers 3km 
of untested search space approximately 17km north-west 
of Cassini. Drilling to date has defined nickel sulphide 
mineralisation over a strike extent of 1.1km, with the 
mineralisation remaining open to the north, south and 
down-dip. We are now integrating all our exploration 
datasets to develop a robust geological model for Hartley 
to help guide further exploration drilling.

Drilling is also being planned for Carnilya Hill following the 
completion of a 2D seismic survey that defined new nickel 
sulphide targets which represent potential extensions of 
the previously mined deposit.

Management Transition
In August 2022, David Southam stepped down as 
Managing Director of the Company in order to spend 
more time with his family and pursue personal interests. 
During his three and a half years with Mincor, David made 
an enormous contribution to the Company leading and 
guiding it through one of the most challenging periods 
any of us have ever experienced.

Under David’s leadership, Mincor has achieved its goal of 
returning to the ranks of successful Australian mid-tier 
miners. David worked tirelessly throughout this period 
with Mincor; we could not have asked for any more from 
him and on behalf of the Board, leadership team and our 
shareholders, I would like to sincerely thank him for his 
dedicated service to the Company.

While we are sorry to see David go, we are very excited 
to have secured highly regarded mining executive, 
Gabrielle Iwanow, to succeed him. Gabrielle is one of the 
most impressive people I have met and her extensive 
operational, technical and corporate experience ideally 
equips her to lead the Company as we ramp up to achieve 
full operational performance from our Kambalda assets 
and move into our next phase of growth.

Gabrielle will be commencing with Mincor in November 
2022 this year. In the interim period, I am temporarily 
working in an executive capacity to support our highly 
competent management team as and when required; 
however, I have absolutely no doubt that they will continue 
to maintain the incredibly high standards of the Company 
during this short period.

Conclusion
With the return to production at Kambalda, Mincor 
has become a key Australian supplier of Class-1 nickel 
sulphides, a critical mineral for the global transition to 
renewable energy and decarbonisation.

We are progressively ramping up production at KNO, with 
full output levels set to be achieved in CY2023. We have 
a long and high quality pipeline of exploration targets 
that are expected to extend our mine life in Kambalda for 
many years to come. 

We have a robust balance sheet and an exceptional team 
of people to deliver our next phase of growth.

In closing, I would like to sincerely thank the incredibly 
hard working team of staff and contractors who have 
delivered such outstanding results over the past year, 
despite what has at times been an intensely challenging 
operating environment. 

I would also like to thank all our shareholders for their 
ongoing support.

Brett Lambert 
Interim Executive Chairman
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 �NICKEL MARKET

The nickel market exhibited some volatility over FY2022 
but generally continued its upwards trend, starting the 
year at around US$18,000 (A$21,000) per tonne and 
closing at approximately US$23,000/t (A$33,500/t) at the 
end of the reporting period. 

The notable exception to this was a widely reported 
short squeeze in March 2022, which caused the nickel 
price to climb to around US$100,000/t, resulting in the 
brief suspension of trading on the LME. Upon re-open, 
trading reset to levels around US$48,000/t. Following the 
suspension, the LME instigated a number of measures to 
resume ordinary trading.

Demand for nickel continues to be driven by traditional 
markets, such as stainless steel manufacturing alongside 
increasing consumption from new “green technology” 
applications such as Electric Vehicles (EV) where nickel 
forms a significant component of the rechargeable 
batteries.

This demand from the EV sector is expected to surge in 
coming years, with the move to electrification a central 

element of the global push to achieve Net Zero carbon 
emissions by 2050.

Wood Mackenzie forecasts that annual passenger EV 
sales will reach 20 million units by 2025 and more than 70 
million by 2040, with a Compound Annual Growth Rate of 
38.2% for the plug in hybrid market alone between 2020 
and 2025.

High nickel content batteries are the key to longer range, 
more efficient EVs, with downstream users (and investors) 
increasingly demanding responsibly sourced Class-1 
nickel supply.

High performance batteries, such as those used in EVs  
require high grade Class-1 nickel feed stock, such as 
that produced from Kambalda. Indeed, Mincor’s offtake 
partner, BHP, is currently selling more than 85% of its 
nickel output into the battery market, and has supply 
agreements in place with carmakers Tesla, Toyota and 
Ford.
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Mincor’s Key Assets and Strategy 
During FY2022, Mincor successfully completed 
construction and commissioning programs at both the 
Cassini Nickel mine and the Northern Operations (Otter 
Juan/Durkin North and Long mines), delivering the first 
nickel sulphide production from its KNO since 2016.

The Company holds a strategic 300 square kilometre 
landholding in the heart of this world class nickel sulphide 
district, which historically has produced 1.7 million tonnes 
of nickel-in-ore. All of Mincor’s mines and tenements in 
the Kambalda District are 100% owned.

The Company has a high quality nickel sulphide Mineral 

Resource and Ore Reserve inventory, with production 
now underway from two separate production centres at 
Cassini and the Northern Operations. 

A complete list of tenements is included on page 90 of 
this Annual Report.
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Kambalda Nickel Operations (KNO)

OVERVIEW
FY2022 has been an incredibly productive period for 
Mincor with the start of nickel sulphide production and 
the completion of first nickel sales from KNO, marking the 
Company’s return to the ranks of nickel sulphide producer.

Mincor played a leading role in Kambalda’s previous revival 
in the post 2001 era. The Company produced approximately 
180,000t of nickel-in-ore over a successful 14-year period as 
a profitable, dividend paying mining company before placing 
its operations on care and maintenance in 2016 at a time of 
historically low nickel prices.

Mincor’s nickel portfolio includes the full spectrum 
of assets, ranging from recent high grade discoveries 
(such as the newly commissioned Cassini mine) to 
existing mines on care and maintenance, to brownfields 
extensions and greenfields exploration targets. 

Following a Final Investment Decision (FID) for the 
recommencement of production at KNO in September 
2020, Mincor commenced construction and development 
in the December 2021 quarter, with first nickel 
development ore extracted from Northern Operations  
in December 2021 and from Cassini in March 2022.

The Company’s nickel sulphide production is 
underpinned by an enhanced agreement with BHP, 
under which Mincor’s ore is processed at the nearby 
Kambalda nickel concentrator,with all imputed metal 
concentrate sold to BHP.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Mincor has maintained a strong focus on proactive incident 
prevention measures across the business as personnel 
hours and activities have ramped up over FY2022. 

Five Medically Treated Injuries (MTI) and ten Alternate Duty 
Injuries (ADI) were reported across the Company’s mining 
and exploration operations during FY2022, with zero Lost 
Time Injuries (LTI) recorded.

Mincor Group’s 12-month LTI frequency rate (LTIFR) 
remains at zero and the MTIFR is 9.8. The TRIFR was 
19.6 at the end of the reporting period, which Mincor is 
focused on reducing. A graph of the Company’s safety 
statistics is shown below and significant improvements 
were achieved in the second half of the year. 

The Company continues to manage the effects of the 
COVID-19 outbreak in Western Australia on its personnel 
and operations, implementing a number of risk mitigation 
measures and allowing more flexible work arrangements.

12 MONTH - INJURY FREQUENCY RATES
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ENHANCED NICKEL OFFTAKE AGREEMENT
During the June 2022 quarter, the Company updated the 
terms of the OTCPA with BHP for KNO. 

The enhanced OTCPA sees future nickel sales based 
on Imputed Nickel, Copper and Cobalt in concentrate, 
through the implementation of a grade recovery curve, 
applied to the nickel ore delivered to the concentrator.

The grade recovery curve and subsequent imputed nickel 
concentrate production, mirrors the assumptions of the 
March 2020 Definitive Feasibility Study. 

Both companies can mutually agree to adjust the grade 
recovery curve in the future based on concentrator 
performance. 

PRODUCTION
First processing of ore from KNO was achieved in May 
2022, sourced from a steady build up of development 
ore stockpiles delivered to the concentrator between 
February and early May 2022, resulting in the first 
revenue in June 2022.

By the end of the reporting period, Mincor produced 
66,627 tonnes of development ore at an average grade of 
2.11% nickel (1,404 tonnes of nickel in ore). 

The ore was sourced primarily from development 
headings from both the Northern Operations and Cassini 
and included additional lower grade material mined 
opportunistically outside current Ore Reserves and 
Mineral Resources. This additional ore was encountered 
enroute to the scheduled ore production horizons and 
did not require additional development. 

Both of Mincor’s mining operations (Cassini and the 
Northern Operations) continued to mine development ore 
at the end of the reporting period, with first stoping ore 
from the Northern Operations mined in late June 2022.
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Cassini
Cassini is a new, unmined nickel deposit located in 
the southern Goldfields region of Western Australia, 
approximately 70km south of the Kambalda township via 
the Goldfields Highway and the Coolgardie Esperance 
Highway. It is 100% owned by Mincor and is the flagship 
operation within the integrated KNO. 

The Cassini mine plan involves underground extraction of 
the ore deposit via a box cut and decline. Development 
achieved at Cassini for FY2022 totalled 2,664m, with the 
Woodall Decline continuing to advance and three ore 
drives under development at the end of the reporting 
period. The parallel vent decline is complete.

Cassini Village
During the reporting period, Mincor committed to 
building a new, stand alone accommodation village for 
its Cassini operations. The Company’s commitment to 
the construction of this new village not only highlights its 
dedication to providing high quality, modern amenities for 
our people, but also reinforces the Company’s long held 
belief that the Cassini operations will be a long life mining 
asset.

After a competitive tender process, RangeCon, a highly 
credentialed civil works contractor with significant 
experience in camp construction, was selected to supply 
and construct the accommodation village for the Cassini 
operations.

Mincor, together with its construction partner, has designed 
the new village using modern construction principles, 
paying particular attention to the use of renewable energy 

and allowing for system upgrades as renewable energy 
storage technology improves in the future.

Special attention has also been focused on lighting 
design and other important details such as high quality 
bedding and communications, designed to make the 
new accommodation village as safe, comfortable and 
welcoming as possible.

All major earthworks for the village are now complete. 
Delivery of accommodation and associated buildings to 
site commenced in July 2022. All long lead and major 
items have been ordered and/or are currently under 
construction.

Village construction is expected to be completed 
early in the December 2022 quarter, below initial cost 
expectations.
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Northern Operations  
(Otter Juan/Durkin North and Long)
Mining activities at the Northern Operations are focused 
on accessing the Durkin North orebody, a previously 
unmined nickel deposit located beneath and to the north 
of the historical Durkin mine workings and Long North, 
a previously unmined area located to the east of the 
existing Long decline at the northern end of the Long 
mine. The orebodies are accessed through the existing 
Otter Juan and Long-Victor declines. At their closest point 
in the upper levels, the Otter Juan and Long mines are 
approximately 900m apart horizontally.

Development continued at Durkin North (from the Otter 
Juan and Long-Victor mines) and Long North (accessed 
from Long-Victor) throughout the reporting period, with 
total development of 4,792m for FY2022. 

The first stope was fired in the 495 Level at Durkin North 
in June 2022.

Capital development continues in the Durkin decline and 
incline, which will join the Otter Juan and Long mines via 
the decline as well as the raisebore. Capital development 
was also undertaken at Long North to access ore. 

Ore development and waste operating development 
continues in both Durkin and Long North.
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Nickel Resource Extension and Exploration
Mincor has been actively targeting and consolidating 
more than 100km of strike length of a key stratigraphic 
contact which is considered the most prospective 
geological setting for nickel sulphide discoveries in 
Kambalda.

Together with its existing nickel Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves, this extensive exploration footprint 
presents an outstanding opportunity for Mincor to 
maintain sustainable nickel mining over the long term 
in the Kambalda district. The Company has a strategic 
exploration landholding which has a history of delivering 
profitable, high grade nickel mines. 

The key geological setting for the nickel sulphide ore that 
has been mined historically at Kambalda is at a contact 
between two rock types, a footwall basalt and an overlying 
hanging wall komatiite rock. Geologists are looking for 
ancient lava channels that flow along this highly endowed 
‘basal contact’ position with the potential for high grade 
massive sulphides to be found at their base.

Where a mineralised nickel channel is discovered at 
Kambalda, there is a strong likelihood that it will persist 
over kilometres along strike. This geological setting 
is what makes Mincor's shallow Cassini discovery so 
significant. Almost always, the actual size of the channel is 
not known for many years and the initial Ore Reserve is a 
fraction of what is ultimately discovered and mined over 
time. 

During FY2022, the Company continued regional 
exploration programs to systematically test a suite of high 
quality targets within its Kambalda landholdings. These 
targets ranged from greenfields to near mine. 

The Company plans to continue with its regional 
exploration programs, an important pillar in Mincor’s 
overall nickel strategy, throughout FY2023.
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GOLDEN MILE
Drilling continued at the ‘Golden Mile’ – 1.1km extent of 
the basal contact between the Long and Durkin North 
mines – throughout the reporting period.

Underground exploration drilling highlighted several 
mineralised ‘trends’ or ‘surfaces’ across the zone, 
considered broadly to be extensions of the Long and 
Durkin mines. As part of this program, in-fill diamond drilling 
of the zone closest to Long resulted in the definition of a 
significant new surface, referred to as the LN04a, located 
close to recently installed underground infrastructure.

Some of the more significant intersections in the LN04a 
include:

ULG-22-045 – 3.7m @ 8.6% Ni
ULG-22-046 – 3.7m @ 6.8% Ni
ULG-22-060 – 5.0m @ 4.5% Ni
Drilling has demonstrated the continuity of the LN04a 
mineralised surface within the initial spatial extents 
of approximately 750m by 270m, which has enabled 
completion of a high confidence geological interpretation, 
which paved the way for the initial MRE that was completed 
in July 2022, totalling 576,000 tonnes @ 3.9% Ni for 22,600 
Ni tonnes (see ASX announcement 25 July 2022). 

The close proximity to the existing infrastructure has 
positive implications, limiting the capital and development 
time required to access any potential new mining zones. 
The continuity and the nickel grade of the LN04a are very 
similar to the orebodies that were successfully mined 
historically at Mincor’s Northern Operations.

Recent and historical drill results have demonstrated the 
potential of the LN04a surface to grow beyond the current 
spatial extent, with the surface remaining open along 
strike and notably, up-dip. Several drill holes completed to 
date confirm the Company’s view of the up-dip potential 
(ASX announcement 25 July 2022) and include:

ULG-21-048 – 4.3m @ 3.0% Ni
ULG-22-064 – 1.4m @ 5.4% Ni
The Company is highly encouraged by the results 
received to date outside of the current LN04a envelope 
and followup drill programmes are being designed to 
target up-dip and along strike extensions.

Drilling activities at the Golden Mile are currently focused on 
further defining the extents of the Durkin North orebodies 
(D1/D2 and D3/D5). In FY2023, drilling will continue to focus 
on extending the LN04a resource and further progressing 
the Golden Mile exploration drilling programme.

485 ACCESS – POTENTIAL NEW ORE 
SURFACE, NAMED “D6”
Whilst accessing the D1 resource at Durkin from the 485 
Access, a new ore surface was encountered which has 
been named D6. Face sampling has confirmed that the 
massive sulphides are high tenor, with grades averaging 
14.6% Ni for the massive sulphides. During December 
2021, the new ore position was mined for 26m following 
the sub-vertical contact, providing valuable information 
on the orebody’s width, dip and strike information which 
was used for preliminary modelling and targeting1.
1 Refer to Company ‘s ASX announcement dated 15 December 2021.
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Preliminary modelling indicates this position is 36m 
beneath and generally parallel to the Durkin D1 resource 
and is part of the 52 Embayment located 800m back 
toward Otter Juan. Due to the orientation and spacing of 
existing drilling, no holes intersected this new D6 position 
over the potential 800m strike length.

Additional drilling, which is planned for FY2023, will enable 
geological interpretation and more detailed understanding 
of the D6 ore surface.

HARTLEY PROSPECT  
The Hartley Prospect (previously named Location 1) is a 
regional greenfields target that includes 3km of untested 
search space to the north of the historical Wannaway 
mine, approximately 17km north-west of Cassini. 
Exploration activities at the Hartley Prospect during 
FY2022 included diamond drilling, down-hole 
electromagnetic (DHEM) surveys, moving loop transient 
electromagnetic (MLTEM) surveys and interpretation and 
modelling of existing and new geological, geochemical 
and geophysical data.

Diamond drilling was designed to test the high MgO 
ultramafic channel, which is interpreted to extend from 
the Hartley Prospect southwards and connect to the 
historical Wannaway mine. The objectives of this broad 
spaced drill programme were to test for the presence of 
nickel sulphide mineralisation along the basal contact and 
to obtain geological, structural, geochemical and DHEM 
data to understand channel architecture. 

Drilling to date has defined nickel sulphide mineralisation 
at the Hartley Prospect over a strike extent of 1.1km with 
the high MgO channel and mineralisation remaining open 
to the north, south and down-dip. A work programme of 
systematic re-logging and sampling of the existing drill 
holes; interpretation and modelling of the DHEM and 
surface EM data at the Hartley Prospect is underway and 
will continue into FY2023. 

The main objectives of this work are to develop a 
robust geological model and enable a more detailed 
understanding of the channel architecture, both of which, 
once completed, will be used to guide further exploration 
drilling in FY2023.

CARNILYA HILL
A 2D seismic survey over the interpreted down-plunge 
continuation of the Carnilya Hill syncline was completed in 
March 2022. The aim of the survey was to further refine 
the existing geological model and structural architecture 
of the area. The data is being used in conjunction with 
all other existing data sets to define new nickel sulphide 
targets at Carnilya Hill.
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GOLD STRATEGY
A significant tenure within Mincor’s Northern Operations 
area is on freehold title (not subject to any gold royalty) 
and is located on the highly gold endowed Boulder-Lefroy 
Fault, which hosts St Ives (Goldfields) to the south and the 
Jubilee operations (Northern Star Resources Limited), to 
the north. Mincor’s Widgemooltha Gold Project, located at 
the northern end of the Widgemooltha Dome, represents 
a significant gold exploration opportunity. 

Whilst Mincor’s strategic and corporate focus remains on 

the KNO, the Company continues to review its exploration 
and strategic options for its gold assets in the short to 
medium term.

 GOLD PROJECTS
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 �SUSTAINABILITY  
AT MINCOR

Mincor has long been synonymous with community, 
having been the centrepiece of the Kambalda region 
for well over 20 years. As such, sustainability (in every 
sense) has long been at the heart of who we are, how 
we conduct ourselves and how we seek to shape our 
relationships here at Mincor. 

Now, as we return to production, we are making sure we 
integrate all aspects of Sustainability right through our 
business, ensuring we are delivering on our commitments 
of safe, responsible, sustainable, low-carbon intensity 
nickel production – the Mincor Way

A highlight of the past twelve months has been the 
release of Mincor’s inaugural Sustainability report 
(covering FY2021), in which we have set an incredibly 
high benchmark for our sustainability actions and future 
aspirations, with authenticity our core belief.

Mincor’s sustainability ambition:

Sustainability through 
care and respect for 
our communities and 
environment
In the coming months, Mincor will be releasing its second 
sustainability report (for the FY2022 period), building 
on the strong foundations of our inaugural report, 
highlighting progress within our reporting frameworks 
and continuing the tradition of Mincor’s authentic 
approach to sustainability – the Mincor Way

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS

0  
No Lost Time  
Injuries (LTIs)  

0%  
Zero %  
gender pay gap for 
like-for-like positions

<12kt CO2e  
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions <12kt CO2e. 

95% Procurement spend in  
Western Australian communities

100% Employee retention rate

>30% Female participation rate

Ngadju  
Ngadju (Traditional Owner’s) agreement 
formalised

0.02% Total disturbed land  
(% of Mincor’s total land holding)

Note: FY2021 sustainability statistics used
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 �2022 MINERAL RESOURCES  
AND ORE RESERVES STATEMENT

Notes: 
•	 Figures have been rounded and hence may not add up exactly to the given totals. 
•	 Nickel Mineral Resources are inclusive of nickel Ore Reserves.
•	 1The Long Mineral Resources includes a portion of the LN04a – all LN04a related drilling was completed by 30 June 2022, however LN04a Mineral Resource 

estimation was completed in July (see ASX announcement 25 July 2022).
•	 2The Durkin North Mineral Resources includes portion of the LN04a – all LN04a related drilling was completed by 30 June 2022, however LN04a Mineral 

Resource estimation was completed in July (see ASX announcement 25 July 2022)

Mincor’s Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates are reported in accordance with the ASX 
Listing Rules and the requirements and guidelines of the 2012 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves - the JORC Code. 

The Company’s Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates as at 30 June 2022 and comparatives to 30 June 2021 are 
listed in the tables below. Competent Person Statements for the estimates are included on page 21 of this Annual Report.

NICKEL ASSETS
The Company’s nickel Mineral Resources inventory 
increased during FY2022 due to the addition of the 
LN04a Mineral Resource, which was reported to ASX on 
25 July 2022.  

After depletions from recent mining at Cassini, Long and 
Durkin North and updates to Mineral Resources, including 
the LN04a (see ASX announcement dated 25 July 2022), the 
Company’s nickel Mineral Resources inventory stands at 
5.9Mt grading 3.8% nickel for 223,900t of contained metal. 

The complete JORC Code reports for nickel Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves, including JORC Code Table 
1 checklist, which detail the material assumptions and 
technical parameters for each estimate, can be found 
in the Company’s ASX announcements dated 25 March 
2020, 25 June 2020 and 25 July 2022.

 RESOURCE MEASURED INDICATED INFERRED TOTAL
Tonnes Ni(%) Tonnes Ni(%) Tonnes Ni(%) Tonnes Ni(%) Ni tonnes

Cassini 2022 1,287,000 4.0 183,000 3.5 1,470,000 4.0 58,200
 2021 1,350,000 4.0 184,000 3.5 1,534,000 4.0 60,700
Long1 2022 918,000 4.2 448,000 4.1 1,366,000 4.1 56,500
 2021 487,000 4.1 303,000 4.0 791,000 4.1 32,000
Redross 2022 39,000 4.9 138,000 2.9 67,000 2.9 244,000 3.2 7,900
 2021 39,000 4.9 138,000 2.9 67,000 2.9 244,000 3.2 7,900
Burnett 2022 241,000 4.0 241,000 4.0 9,700
 2021 241,000 4.0 241,000 4.0 9,700
Miitel 2022 156,000 3.5 408,000 2.8 27,000 4.1 591,000 3.1 18,100
 2021 156,000 3.5 408,000 2.8 27,000 4.1 591,000 3.1 18,100
Wannaway 2022 110,000 2.6 16,000 6.6 126,000 3.1 3,900
 2021 110,000 2.6 16,000 6.6 126,000 3.1 3,900
Carnilya 2022 47,000 3.6 57,000 2.2 104,000 2.8 2,900
 2021 47,000 3.6 57,000 2.2 104,000 2.8 2,900
Otter Juan 2022 2,000 6.9 51,000 4.1 53,000 4.3 2,300
 2021 2,000 6.9 51,000 4.1 53,000 4.3 2,300
Ken/McMahon 2022 25,000 2.7 183,000 3.9 54,000 3.2 262,000 3.7 9,600
 2021 25,000 2.7 183,000 3.9 54,000 3.2 262,000 3.7 9,600
Durkin North2 2022 522,000 4.7 18,000 4.4 540,000 4.7 25,400
 2021 417,000 5.3 10,000 3.8 427,000 5.2 22,400
Durkin Oxide 2022 154,000 3.2 22,000 1.7 176,000 3.0 5,200
 2021 154,000 3.2 22,000 1.7 176,000 3.0 5,200
Gellatly 2022 29,000 3.4 29,000 3.4 1,000
 2021 29,000 3.4 29,000 3.4 1,000
Voyce 2022 50,000 5.3 14,000 5.0 64,000 5.2 3,400
 2021 50,000 5.3 14,000 5.0 64,000 5.2 3,400
Cameron 2022 96,000 3.3 96,000 3.3 3,200
 2021 96,000 3.3 96,000 3.3 3,200
Stockwell 2022 554,000 3.0 554,000 3.0 16,700
 2021 554,000 3.0 554,000 3.0 16,700
GRAND TOTAL 2022 270,000 3.7 4,797,000 3.8 850,000 3.8 5,916,000 3.8 223,900
 2021 270,000 3.7 4,325,000 3.8 698,000 3.7 5,292,000 3.8 199,000

TABLE 1 NICKEL MINERAL RESOURCES AT 30 JUNE 2022
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GOLD ASSETS
The Company’s total gold Mineral Resources inventory at 
30 June 2022 stands at 4.6Mt at a grade of 1.4 g/t Au for 
201,900 ounces of contained gold.

The complete JORC Code reports for gold Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves, including JORC Code Table 
1 checklist, which detail the material assumptions and 
technical parameters for each estimate, can be found in 
the Company’s announcement dated 8 October 2019.

TABLE 3   GOLD MINERAL RESOURCES AT 30 JUNE 2022
RESOURCES MEASURED INDICATED INFERRED TOTAL

Tonnes Au (g/t) Tonnes Au (g/t) Tonnes Au (g/t) Tonnes Au (g/t) Ounces
West Oliver 2022 48,000 1.2 478,000 1.5 105,000 2.4 631,000 1.6 32,400

2021 48,000 1.2 478,000 1.5 105,000 2.4 631,000 1.6 32,500

Bass 2022 8,000 1.9 222,000 1.9 434,000 2 664,000 2 42,500

2021 8,000 1.9 222,000 1.9 434,000 2 664,000 2 42,500

Hronsky 2022 101,000 1.8 134,000 1.8 70,000 1.3 305,000 1.1 11,100

2021 101,000 1.8 134,000 1.8 70,000 1.3 305,000 1.1 11,100

Darlek 2022 87,000 2.1 603,000 1.2 923,000 1 1,613,000 1.1 58,700

2021 87,000 2.1 603,000 1.2 923,000 1 1,613,000 1.1 58,700

Flinders 2022   453,000 1.4 389,000 1.3 842,000 1.4 37,900

2021   453,000 1.4 389,000 1.3 842,000 1.4 37,900

Hillview 2022     578,000 1.1 578,000 1.1 20,600

2021     578,000 1.1 578,000 1.1 20,600

TOTAL 2022 244,000 1.8 1,890,000 1.4 2,499,000 1.3 4,633,000 1.4 201,900
2021 244,000 1.8 1,890,000 1.4 2,499,000 1.3 4,633,000 1.4 201,900

Note: Figures have been rounded and hence may not add up exactly to the given totals. Resources are inclusive of Reserves reported at 0.5g/t cut-off. Figures 
have been rounded to the nearest 1,000t, 0.1g/t Au grade and 100oz. Jeffreys Find was divested in FY2022.

 RESERVES PROVED PROBABLE TOTAL
Tonnes Ni(%) Tonnes Ni(%) Tonnes Ni(%) Ni tonnes

Cassini 2022 1,196,000 3.3 1,196,000 3.3 39,500
2021 1,212,000 3.3 1,212,000 3.3 40,100

Long 2022 136,000 3.6 136,000 3.6 4,900
2021 162,000 2.7 162,000 2.7 4,300

Burnett 2022 271,000 2.6 271,000 2.6 6,900
2021 271,000 2.6 271,000 2.6 6,900

Miitel 2022 19,000 2.9 126,000 2.1 145,000 2.2 3,300
2021 19,000 2.9 126,000 2.1 145,000 2.2 3,300

Durkin North 2022 736,000 2.3 736,000 2.3 16,700
2021 675,000 2.4 675,000 2.4 16,500

TOTAL 2022 19,000 2.9 2,465,000 2.9 2,484,000 2.9 71,300
2021 19,000 2.9 2,445,000 2.9 2,465,000 2.9 71,100

TABLE 2 NICKEL ORE RESERVES AT 30 JUNE 2022

Notes: 
•	 Figures have been rounded and hence may not add up exactly to the given totals. 
•	 Nickel Mineral Resources are inclusive of nickel Ore Reserves.

After depletions from recent mining at Long and Durkin North and following updates to Mineral Resources and re-estimates 
of the Ore Reserves using the same Table 1 parameters in those areas, there is an increase to Ore Reserves at Long and 
Durkin North (not related to LN04a) and a very slight increase in total Ore Reserve (<1%).
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COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENTS
Information in this Annual Report that relates to Exploration Targets, Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore 
Reserves is based on the information compiled by the Competent Persons listed in Table 5 below, which includes details 
of their respective professional memberships, their relationship to Mincor and the reporting activity for which each 
Competent Person is taking responsibility.

All the Competent Persons listed below have provided Mincor with written confirmation that they have sufficient 
experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under their consideration and to the reporting 
activity being undertaken, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the the JORC Code. They have also provided 
Mincor with a written consent to the inclusion in this Annual Report of the respective matters based on each Competent 
Person’s information in the form and context in which they appear in this Annual Report and that there are no issues that 
could be perceived as a material conflicts of interest in this public report to the ASX.

TABLE 5 — MINCOR COMPETENT PERSONS FOR THE 30 JUNE 2022 ESTIMATES AND RESULTS

ACTIVITY COMPETENT 
PERSON

PROFESSIONAL   ASSOCIATION MINCOR 
RELATIONSHIP

RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITY

MEMBERSHIP NUMBER

Exploration Results Zoran Seat MAusIMM 3002649 General Manager 
Exploration

Exploration results

Mineral Resources Rob Hartley MAusIMM 112132 General Manager 
Exploration*

Resource estimates  
(all resources estimates except 
for LN04a)

Mineral Resources Mark Muller MAusIMM 308162 Group Mine 
Geologist

Resource estimates  
(LN04a only)

Ore Reserves Paul Darcey MAusIMM 300464 General Manager 
Projects

Nickel estimates  
(Burnett, Miitel & Durkin North)

Dean Will MAusIMM 103254 Chief Operations 
Officer

Gold & Nickel estimates  
(Cassini & Long)

FY2022 Annual Report Zoran Seat MAusIMM 3002649 General Manager 
Exploration

Annual Report compilation, 
including Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves Statement

Refer to ASX announcements dated 21 September 2017, 8 October 2019, 25 June 2020 and 21 March 2022 for Competent Person Statements.
Notes:
•	 MAusIMM is Member of Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. 
•	 Information in this report that relates to Exploration Targets, Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves is based on the information compiled 

by the relevant Competent Persons listed above.
•	 *Rob Hartley stepped down as a General Manager Exploration on 6 December 2021, but remains a part-time employee of the Company.

GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
Mincor geology and mining departments have a set of guidelines and working practices to control the Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves estimation and reconciliation process, as well as the quality of the data used. The Company’s risk 
management program includes assessment of the risks associated with the estimations of Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves and the controls in place to ensure that robust Resource and Reserve estimates are reported.

TABLE 4   GOLD ORE RESERVES AT 30 JUNE 2022
RESERVES PROVED PROBABLE TOTAL

Tonnes Au (g/t) Tonnes Au (g/t) Tonnes Au (g/t) Ounces
Darlek 2022 24,000 2.4 70,000 2.0 94,000 2.1 6,400

2021 24,000 2.4 70,000 2.0 94,000 2.1 6,400

TOTAL 2022 24,000 2.4 70,000 2.0 94,000 2.1 6,400

2021 24,000 2.4 70,000 2.0 94,000 2.1 6,400
Notes: Figures have been rounded to the nearest 100t, 0.1g/t Au grade and 100oz. Differences may occur due to rounding.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group comprising of Mincor 
Resources NL (“Mincor” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 and the Auditor’s 
report thereon. The Directors’ report and consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, except 
where otherwise indicated. 

DIRECTORS 
The names and particulars of the Directors of Mincor during the financial year and up to the date of this report are: 

 

Name Particulars 

Brett Thomas 
Lambert 
BAppSc (Mining 
Engineering)  

 

Appointed 
1 January 2017 

Appointed 
Non-Executive 
Chairman 
6 February 2018 

(Appointed Interim 
Executive Chair 
from 12 August 
2022 on an interim 
basis until 
commencement of 
new Managing 
Director in 
November 2022) 

Interim Executive Chairman  
Mr Lambert is a mining engineer and has over 35 years’ involvement in the Australian and international 
resources industry encompassing mining operations, project development, business development and 
corporate administration. 
After graduating from the Western Australian School of Mines, Mr Lambert commenced his professional 
career with Western Mining Corporation (“WMC”) at Kalgoorlie in 1983. He progressed to a senior 
management position with WMC before leaving to take responsibility for the development of Herald 
Resources’ Three Mile Hill gold mine at Coolgardie. Mr Lambert has since held senior roles with a number 
of junior and mid-tier resource companies, including more than 10 years at a chief executive 
officer/managing director level. 
Mr Lambert has served as a director of companies listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”), 
London’s Alternative Investment Market, the Toronto Stock Exchange and the Stock Exchange of Thailand. 

Special responsibilities 
Chair of the Board 
Member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration 
Committee  

Other current ASX listed 
directorships 
Australian Potash Limited 
(appointed 9 May 2017) 
Metal Hawk Limited 
(appointed Chair 8 July 2019) 
Saturn Metals Limited 
(appointed Chair 9 April 2020) 
Musgrave Minerals Limited 
(appointed 4 February 2021) 

Former ASX listed directorships in 
last 3 years 
Metals X Limited (2019–2020) 

David Clifford 
Southam 
BComm, CPA, 
MAICD 

 

Appointed 
1 February 2019 
(Resigned 
12 August 2022)  

Former Managing Director 
Mr Southam holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Curtin University and has significant experience 
as a senior executive and director of ASX200 companies. He is a Certified Practicing Accountant with more 
than 25 years’ experience in accounting, operations, capital markets and finance across the resources and 
industrial sectors.  

Mr Southam held the role of executive director at successful nickel producer, Western Areas Limited, 
immediately prior to his appointment at Mincor in 2019. He has been intimately involved in several large 
project financings in multiple jurisdictions and has completed significant capital market and merger and 
acquisition transactions.  

Mr Southam has negotiated several multi-billion-dollar sales offtake agreements in base metals and bulk 
commodities and holds extensive industry experience in nickel and other battery metal industries.  

Special responsibilities 
Nil  

Other current ASX listed 
directorships 
Ramelius Resources Limited 
(appointed 2 July 2018)  

Former ASX listed directorships in 
last 3 years 
None  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Name Particulars 

Michael Andrew 
Bohm 
BAppSc (Mining 
Engineering), 
MAusIMM, MAICD 

 
Appointed 
1 January 2017 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Mr Bohm is a qualified mining professional with extensive corporate, project development and mine 
operations experience in Australia, South-East Asia, Africa, Chile, North America and Europe. A graduate of 
the Western Australian School of Mines, Mr Bohm has worked as a mining engineer, mine manager, study 
manager, project manager, project director and managing director. He has been directly involved in a number 
of new project developments in the gold, nickel and diamond sectors both in Australia and offshore. 
Mr Bohm’s experience includes previous directorships at Argyle Diamond Mines, Sally Malay Mining 
Limited (now Panoramic Resources Limited), Perseus Mining Limited and Ashton Mining of Canada Inc. 

Special responsibilities 
Chair of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Other current ASX listed directorships 
Cygnus Gold Limited 
(appointed 30 September 2016) 
Riedel Resources Limited 
(appointed Chair 12 December 2020) 

Former ASX listed 
directorships in last 3 years 
Ramelius Resources Limited 
(2012–2022) 

Liza Carpene 
MBA, FGIA, FCIS, 
GAICD 

 

Appointed 
16 April 2018 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Ms Carpene has worked in the resources industry for more than 20 years, and has significant experience 
in corporate administration, HR, legal, environment, IT and stakeholder relations. Up until February 2018, 
Ms Carpene was part of Northern Star Resources Limited’s (“Northern Star”) executive team responsible 
for its transformational growth, through a combination of acquisition, organic growth and divestment, to 
an ASX50 company. 

Prior to Northern Star, Ms Carpene was Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer for ASX listed 
exploration companies, Venturex Resources Limited and Newland Resources Limited, and previously held 
various site and Perth based management roles with Great Central Mines Limited, Normandy Mining 
Limited, Newmont Australia Limited, Agincourt Resources Limited and Oxiana Limited. 

Ms Carpene has a Master of Business Administration and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate 
Governance. She is also a Chartered Secretary and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.  
Special responsibilities 
Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee  
Member of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee  

Other current ASX listed 
directorships 
Alchemy Resources Limited 
(appointed 18 March 2015) 
RLF Agtech Limited 
(appointed 15 December 2021)  

Former ASX listed 
directorships in last 3 years 
None  

Peter William 
Bewick 
B.Eng (Hons), 
MAusIMM 

 

Appointed 
2 December 2019 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Mr Bewick is an experienced mining executive and geologist with technical and geological expertise in the 
nickel sulphide sector.  

Mr Bewick graduated from the Western Australian School of Mines in 1990 and is a geologist with over 
25 years of industry experience. Mr Bewick held a number of senior mine and exploration geological roles 
during a 14-year career with WMC, including Exploration Manager and Geology Manager of the Kambalda 
Nickel Operations and Exploration Manager for the St Ives Gold Operations.  
Mr Bewick has also held corporate roles with WMC as Exploration Manager for the Nickel Business Unit 
and Exploration Manager for North America, based in Denver, Colorado. Mr Bewick was an Executive 
Director of Encounter Resources Limited, a successful resource generation company, since its inception 
until 2021 when he transitioned to a non-executive role. Mr Bewick commenced in the role of Managing 
Director of Hamelin Gold Ltd following its demerger from Encounter Resources Ltd. 

Mr Bewick has extensive experience in project generation for a range of commodities including nickel, 
gold, copper, and bauxite. He has been a member of the MERIWA Exploration Advisory Committee since 
2013. 
Special responsibilities 
Member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee  

Other current ASX listed 
directorships 
Encounter Resources Limited 
(appointed 7 October 2005) 
Hamelin Gold Limited (appointed 
Managing Director 3 November 2021) 

Former ASX listed 
directorships in last 3 years 
None 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Name Particulars 

Michael Andrew 
Bohm 
BAppSc (Mining 
Engineering), 
MAusIMM, MAICD 

 
Appointed 
1 January 2017 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Mr Bohm is a qualified mining professional with extensive corporate, project development and mine 
operations experience in Australia, South-East Asia, Africa, Chile, North America and Europe. A graduate of 
the Western Australian School of Mines, Mr Bohm has worked as a mining engineer, mine manager, study 
manager, project manager, project director and managing director. He has been directly involved in a number 
of new project developments in the gold, nickel and diamond sectors both in Australia and offshore. 
Mr Bohm’s experience includes previous directorships at Argyle Diamond Mines, Sally Malay Mining 
Limited (now Panoramic Resources Limited), Perseus Mining Limited and Ashton Mining of Canada Inc. 

Special responsibilities 
Chair of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Other current ASX listed directorships 
Cygnus Gold Limited 
(appointed 30 September 2016) 
Riedel Resources Limited 
(appointed Chair 12 December 2020) 

Former ASX listed 
directorships in last 3 years 
Ramelius Resources Limited 
(2012–2022) 

Liza Carpene 
MBA, FGIA, FCIS, 
GAICD 

 

Appointed 
16 April 2018 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Ms Carpene has worked in the resources industry for more than 20 years, and has significant experience 
in corporate administration, HR, legal, environment, IT and stakeholder relations. Up until February 2018, 
Ms Carpene was part of Northern Star Resources Limited’s (“Northern Star”) executive team responsible 
for its transformational growth, through a combination of acquisition, organic growth and divestment, to 
an ASX50 company. 

Prior to Northern Star, Ms Carpene was Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer for ASX listed 
exploration companies, Venturex Resources Limited and Newland Resources Limited, and previously held 
various site and Perth based management roles with Great Central Mines Limited, Normandy Mining 
Limited, Newmont Australia Limited, Agincourt Resources Limited and Oxiana Limited. 

Ms Carpene has a Master of Business Administration and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate 
Governance. She is also a Chartered Secretary and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.  
Special responsibilities 
Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee  
Member of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee  

Other current ASX listed 
directorships 
Alchemy Resources Limited 
(appointed 18 March 2015) 
RLF Agtech Limited 
(appointed 15 December 2021)  

Former ASX listed 
directorships in last 3 years 
None  

Peter William 
Bewick 
B.Eng (Hons), 
MAusIMM 

 

Appointed 
2 December 2019 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
Mr Bewick is an experienced mining executive and geologist with technical and geological expertise in the 
nickel sulphide sector.  

Mr Bewick graduated from the Western Australian School of Mines in 1990 and is a geologist with over 
25 years of industry experience. Mr Bewick held a number of senior mine and exploration geological roles 
during a 14-year career with WMC, including Exploration Manager and Geology Manager of the Kambalda 
Nickel Operations and Exploration Manager for the St Ives Gold Operations.  
Mr Bewick has also held corporate roles with WMC as Exploration Manager for the Nickel Business Unit 
and Exploration Manager for North America, based in Denver, Colorado. Mr Bewick was an Executive 
Director of Encounter Resources Limited, a successful resource generation company, since its inception 
until 2021 when he transitioned to a non-executive role. Mr Bewick commenced in the role of Managing 
Director of Hamelin Gold Ltd following its demerger from Encounter Resources Ltd. 

Mr Bewick has extensive experience in project generation for a range of commodities including nickel, 
gold, copper, and bauxite. He has been a member of the MERIWA Exploration Advisory Committee since 
2013. 
Special responsibilities 
Member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee  

Other current ASX listed 
directorships 
Encounter Resources Limited 
(appointed 7 October 2005) 
Hamelin Gold Limited (appointed 
Managing Director 3 November 2021) 

Former ASX listed 
directorships in last 3 years 
None 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

COMPANY SECRETARY 
The Company Secretary of Mincor during the financial year ended 30 June 2022 and to the date of this report is: 

 

Name Particulars 

Shannon Louise 
Coates 
LLB, B(Juris), AGIA, 
ACG, GAICD 
 
Appointed 
17 November 
2017 

Company Secretary 
Ms Coates has over 25 years’ experience in corporate law and compliance. She is currently Executive 
Director of Emerson CoSec, a national corporate advisory, compliance and governance service provider, 
with clients predominantly in the mineral exploration, development and production sector, and company 
secretary to a number of ASX listed companies. She has provided company secretarial and corporate 
advisory services to boards across a variety of industries, including mining and oil and gas exploration and 
development, financial services, manufacturing and technology both in Australia and internationally.  

Ms Coates is a qualified lawyer, Chartered Secretary, and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 

Kambalda Landholdings 
The Company’s key assets consist of strategic landholdings in the Kambalda District of Western Australia, a major nickel 
and gold producing area with significantly developed mining infrastructure. 

Kambalda Nickel Operations  
During the year, the Company continued with development at its Kambalda Nickel Operations (“KNO”), which comprise 
the Cassini and Northern Operations. First development ore was extracted from the Northern Operations in December 
2021 (ASX announcement 15 December 2021) and Cassini in March 2022 (ASX announcement 23 March 2022). 

The Company achieved a number of significant milestones in the second half of the financial year, which included: 

• first parcel of ore transported to the BHP Nickel West Kambalda Nickel Concentrator (“NKC”) (ASX announcement 
15 February 2022); 

• terms of the Ore Tolling and Concentrate Purchase Agreement (“OTCPA”) with BHP Nickel West (“BHP”) updated and 
enhanced in April 2022 (ASX announcement 29 April 2022). Sales under the enhanced OTCPA are based on Imputed 
Nickel, Copper and Cobalt in Concentrate production, through the implementation of a grade-recovery curve applied 
to the nickel ore delivered to the NKC; and 

• the receipt of the first payment of sales revenue in June 2022 total $25.3 million (net proceeds) (ASX announcement 
23 June 2022). 

COVID-19  

During the year, the Company conservatively managed the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 outbreak in Western Australia 
on its personnel and operations, implementing a number of risk mitigation measures which included installation of an 
automated contact tracing system for site operations. Other programs were also implemented to manage the health and 
well-being of staff and contactors, while maintaining safe operations.  

Environment, Social and Governance 

In December 2021, Mincor released its inaugural Sustainability Report for FY2021. The Sustainability Report marked an 
important step in the Company’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) journey. The Sustainability Report was 
produced in alignment with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals and sets the tone for the Company’s 
future ESG goals and aspirations, as well as reporting on key sustainability activities.  

Heritage 

The Company continues to maintain its strong relationship and regular communication with representatives of the 
Traditional Owners from the Ngadju Native Title Aboriginal Corporation. The Company has provided an update on current 
and future mining and exploration activities and discussed various joint initiatives designed to continue to promote and 
protect Ngadju cultural heritage and values, as they relate to Mincor’s tenements and activities.  
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Safety and Environment 

There were no lost-time injuries (“LTI”) during the financial year. At 30 June 2022, the LTI frequency rate was zero and the 
12-month moving average Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate (“TRIFR”) was 19.6. 

Mincor continues to focus on reducing the Group’s TRIFR as a priority, as mining activities continue to ramp-up across all 
operating sites. 

Personnel 

During the year, Mincor was successful with the recruitment of its personnel to both Operations in Management, 
Technical Services and OHS positions, bolstering operational support required as the Company transitioned from capital 
development to ore development and into production.  

Cassini Operation 

During the year, Cassini establishment was completed with the connection of the BHP-supplied grid power and 
installation of the remaining infrastructure, such as the Safescape ladderway and primary ventilation fan. The first 
development ore was intersected in the 2050 N1 Ore Drive, in the very upper part of the Cassini orebody in March 2022.  

Total development of 2,664 metres was achieved at Cassini during the financial year. The Woodall Decline continued to 
advance, and at the end of June 2022 there were multiple ore drives under development. 

Northern Operations  

Northern Operations comprise the Durkin North operation (a new orebody proximal to the existing Durkin Mine) and the 
Long Operation, purchased from IGO Ltd in 2019. The Northern Operations also comprise the “Golden Mile” exploration 
zone; the corridor between the existing Long Operation and Durkin North Operation and host of the recent new LN04a 
discovery.  

In December 2021, high-grade development ore was first intersected in the development heading on the 485 level at 
Durkin North, approximately 36 metres ahead of the modelled first ore contact.  

Total development of 4,792 metres was achieved at Northern Operations for the financial year. 

In the June 2022 quarter, reaming of the Durkin North central return air rise was completed and a Safescape ladderway 
was installed. The installation of this escapeway allows stoping to occur from the Durkin North orebody, with the first 
stope fired in the 495 Level in June 2022.  

Nickel Exploration 
During the year, the Company’s exploration activities primarily focused on drilling at the Golden Mile and Hartley prospects. 

‘Golden Mile’ and New Mineralised Surface ‘LN04a’ 

The Company’s exploration drilling programs in the second half of the year were focused on the Golden Mile and, more 
specifically, on extensional and infill drilling of the LN04a surface (see ASX announcements 2 June 2022). Drilling expanded 
and increased confidence in the LN04a surface, paving the way for the initial Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE”) that was 
completed in July 2022 (see ASX announcement 25 July 2022).  

Significant intersections at LN04a during the year (see ASX announcement 28 October 2021, 25 January 2022, 22 April 
2022 and 2 June 2022) included: 

• ULG-21-030 – 8.1m @ 4.2% Ni, including 3.7m @ 6.0% Ni and 1.7m @ 4.5% Ni (all on-contact)  
• ULG-21-028 – 2.6m @ 3.7% Ni, including 0.3m @ 8.2% Ni (on-contact) 
• ULG-21-052 – 6.8m @ 2.6% Ni  
• ULG-21-069 – 5.8m @ 2.4% Ni  
• ULG-21-048 – 4.3m @ 3.0% Ni 
• ULG-22-021 – 9.9m @ 3.4% Ni  
• ULG-21-045 – 1.2m @ 8.2% Ni  
• LG137-084 – 7.0m @ 3.8% Ni 
• ULG-22-045 – 3.7m @ 8.6% Ni  
• ULG-22-046 – 3.7m @ 6.8% Ni  
• ULG-22-060 – 5.0m @ 4.5% Ni 
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Hartley Prospect 

Exploration activities at the Hartley Prospect during the year included diamond drilling, down-hole electromagnetic 
(“DHEM”) surveys and interpretation and modelling of existing and new geological, geochemical and geophysical data.  

A broad spaced drill programme was completed to test for the presence of nickel sulphide mineralisation along the basal 
contact, and to obtain geological, structural, geochemical and DHEM data to understand channel architecture. Drilling to 
date has defined nickel sulphide mineralisation at the Hartley Prospect over a strike extent of 1.1km with the high-MgO 
channel and mineralisation remaining open to the north, south and down-dip (see ASX announcement 27 July 2022).  

Carnilya Hill 

A 2D seismic survey over the interpreted down-plunge continuation of the Carnilya Hill syncline was completed in March 
2022. The aim of the survey was to further refine the existing geological model and structural architecture of the area. 
Results from the interpretation of the data will be used in conjunction with all other existing data sets to define new nickel 
sulphide targets at Carnilya Hill. 

Competent Person Statement 

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Dr Zoran Seat, who 
is a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (“AusIMM”). Dr Seat is a full-time employee of Mincor 
Resources NL. Dr Seat has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration and to the activity that he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition 
of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Dr Seat consents to 
the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Corporate 

Capital Raising  

In September 2021, the Company announced a $65.0 million Capital Raising, which comprised a $60.0 million Placement 
and a $5.0 million Share Purchase Plan (“SPP”) (refer to ASX announcement 7 September 2021). The SPP closed early and 
oversubscribed at $6.3 million with all subscriptions accepted and no scale-backs applied.  

Project Financing Facility 

Following the Capital Raising, the Company replaced the previous $55.0 million Project Finance Facility with a $30.0 million 
Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”) with BNP Paribas. At 30 June 2022, the RCF was fully drawn.  

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The principal activities of the Group, consisting of Mincor Resources NL and its subsidiaries, during the course of the year 
were exploration, evaluation, development and production of mineral deposits.  

There were no significant changes in nature of the activities of the Group during the financial year. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
Other than as noted elsewhere in this report, there have been no other changes in the state of affairs of the Group during 
the financial year. 
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GROUP RESULTS 
The Group incurred loss after tax of $14.7 million for FY2022 (30 June 2021: $13.4 million). Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”)2 for the year is as follows: 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Adjusted revenue   
Gross revenue1, net of freight cost 36,789 - 
Pricing adjustments associated with processing costs (4,219) - 
Fair value adjustments on derivatives (327) - 

  32,243  
Costs and Other income   
Direct mining costs, net of stockpile movements (15,065) - 
Administrative expense  (6,760) (5,497) 
Exploration expenditure (15,309) (7,310) 
Impairment expense (3,955) - 
Gain on disposal of exploration and evaluation assets 3,082 - 
Fair value adjustments on non-derivative financial instruments (1,607) (139) 
Share-based payments (2,328) (910) 
Other income and expenses (170) 824 

 (42,112) (13,032) 
   
EBITDA2 (9,869) (13,032) 
1 Gross revenue is an unaudited non-IFRS measure and represents amounts due from BHP using forward prices at the expected date of 

settlement, excluding price adjustments associated with processing costs. 
2 Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) is an unaudited non-IFRS measure and is a common measure used 

to assess profitability before the impact of different financing methods, income taxes, depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Reconciliation of EBITDA to the loss before income tax 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

    
EBITDA (9,869) (13,032) 
Depreciation and amortisation, net of stockpile movements (2,528) (336) 
Finance costs (2,309) (61) 
Loss before income tax (14,706) (13,429) 

Revenue and hedging 
Nickel ore tonnes delivered to BHP in FY2022 totalled 66,627 tonnes of lower grade development ore at an average grade 
of 2.11% Ni for 1,404 tonnes of nickel in ore, which generated $36.8 million in gross revenue (before deduction of pricing 
adjustments associated with processing costs). The price is based on the prevailing forward metal price on the relevant 
metal price index in the month of delivery, reflecting an estimate of the final price. 

In the June 2022 quarter, the Company completed short-term quotational period (“QP”) hedging with BNP Paribas 
following execution of forward contracts for 762 nickel tonnes at an average price of $39,137/t, with maturity in July 2022. 
The QP hedging is used to manage the risk of price fluctuation for the imputed nickel concentrate production already 
delivered and sold to BHP, where the nickel price is yet to be finalised. 
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Costs 
Cost of sales for FY2022 totalling $17.3 million, include mining contractor costs, mine administration and services costs, 
stockpile movements and royalties. 

Other costs predominantly include exploration expenditure totalling $15.3 million, reflecting an increase in exploration 
activities, general and administrative expenses of $6.8 million, share-based payments of $2.3 million, offset by a gain on 
the sale of exploration and evaluation assets of $3.1 million. 

Finance costs of $2.3 million were primarily attributable to borrowing costs expensed as a result of the replacement of 
the Project Finance Facility with the RCF. 

Assets and Liabilities 
At 30 June 2022, the Group’s cash balance totalled $79.1 million (2021: $58.9 million) with $30 million fully drawn on the 
RCF (2021: Nil).  

The Group’s total assets increased by $98.1 million to $224.5 million at 30 June 2022 (2021: $126.4 million). The net 
increase was primarily attributable to capitalised mine properties and development expenditure of $67.4 million, and an 
increase in cash balance of $20.2 million.  

At 30 June 2022, the Group’s total liabilities were $122.6 million, an increase of $85.6 million from 30 June 2021. The 
increase was mainly due to the negative mark-to-market adjustment on the mandatory nickel hedges of $39.1 million at 
year-end, draw down on the RCF of $30.0 million and $14.5 million increase in trade and other payables reflecting 
increase in the level of activities at KNO as the project transitioned from development to production. 

DIVIDENDS 
The Directors recommend that no dividend to be declared or paid for FY2022 (2021: Nil).  

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
The number of Board and Committee meetings attended by each Director during the financial year were: 

 

 
Directors Meetings 

Committee Meetings 
Audit and Risk Nomination and Remuneration 

Eligible to 
attend 

Number 
attended 

Eligible to 
attend 

Number 
attended 

Eligible to 
attend 

Number 
attended 

B Lambert 8 7 - - 3 3 
D Southam 8 8 - 4* - 3* 
M Bohm 8 8 4 4 3 3 
L Carpene 8 7 4 3 3 3 
P Bewick  8 8 4 4 - - 

* Attendance by invitation. 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
Details of important developments that occurred during the financial year have been covered in the Review of Operations. 
The Company will continue to actively explore for minerals, and any significant information or data will be released to the 
market and the Shareholders pursuant to the Continuous Disclosure rules applicable to the Company, as and when they 
are to hand.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT 
This Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors’ Report, sets out information on the remuneration of the 
key management personnel (“KMP”) of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2022. The information in the 
Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and has 
been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings: 

A)  Key Management Personnel; 
B)  Remuneration Policy; 
C)  Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration; 
D)  Link Between Performance and Remuneration Outcomes; 
E)  Details of Remuneration; 
F)  Service Agreements; 
G)  Share Based Compensation; 
H) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel; and 
I)  Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

A)  Key Management Personnel 
The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for KMP who are defined as those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or 
indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company. For the purpose of this report, 
the term ‘executive’ encompasses the Managing Director and other executives.  

The following people were KMP during the financial year and unless otherwise indicated were KMP for the entire 
financial year: 

 

Directors Position Executives Position 

B Lambert1 Non-Executive Chairman C Sun Chief Financial Officer 
D Southam1 Managing Director D Will  Chief Operating Officer  
M Bohm Non-Executive Director   
L Carpene Non-Executive Director   
P Bewick Non-Executive Director   

1  Subsequent to year-end, Mr D Southam resigned effective 12 August 2022 and Mr B Lambert was appointed Interim Executive Chair on 
an interim basis until commencement of new Managing Director in November 2022. 

B)  Remuneration Policy  
Mincor’s remuneration policy is designed to provide rewards that: 

• attract, motivate and retain executives; 

• align executive interests with the Company’s strategic and business objectives and the creation of Shareholder 
value; 

• incentivise executives for Company and individual performance against targets set by reference to appropriate 
benchmarks; 

• provide remuneration arrangements that are competitive by market standards; and 

• comply with applicable legal requirements and appropriate standards of governance. 

C)  Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration 
The Company’s remuneration policy is overseen by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on behalf of the 
Board. The Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the: 

• Company’s remuneration policy and framework; 
• remuneration for Non-Executive Directors; 
• remuneration for executives; and 
• terms and conditions of employee incentive schemes. 
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee Charter is approved by the Board and is published on the Company’s 
website. 

Remuneration levels of executives are set by reference to other similar-sized mining and exploration companies 
with similar risk profiles. The Company’s remuneration practices are designed to attract, retain, motivate and reward 
high calibre individuals capable of delivering the strategic objectives of the business.  

Remuneration levels for executives are determined by the Board based upon recommendations from the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board 
within the Director remuneration fee pool limit approved by the Shareholders from time to time. The Board 
undertakes an annual review of its performance and that of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. No bonuses are paid to Non-Executive Directors.  

The Company’s remuneration framework aligns KMP remuneration with the achievement of strategic objectives and 
the creation of value for Shareholders. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee seeks to ensure that the 
remuneration of KMP is competitive and reasonable, acceptable to Shareholders, and aligns remuneration with 
performance. In performing its function, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee may seek advice from 
independent remuneration consultants. The structure and level of remuneration for KMP is reviewed annually by 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board taking into consideration the Company’s 
circumstances and performance. 

During the financial year, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee engaged BDO Rewards Pty Ltd to 
benchmark the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors to ensure it is appropriate and in line with the market. 
The remuneration data was provided to the Committee as input into decision making. The work completed did not 
constitute a remuneration recommendation in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

 Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 

Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of their role and 
are reviewed annually by the Board.  

 Directors’ fees 

Fees for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors are determined within an aggregate Director fee pool limit of 
$600,000, which was last approved by Shareholders in 2019. During the financial year, total remuneration for the 
Chair and other Non-Executive Directors was inclusive of all Committee fees. Remuneration for Non-Executive 
Directors is not linked to individual performance. 

All Non-Executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form of a letter of appointment. 
The letter summarises the Board policies and terms, including remuneration, relevant to the office of Director. 

Non-Executive Directors are not provided with retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation. 

 Remuneration of Executives 

The Company’s remuneration policy for executives is designed to promote performance and long-term commitment 
to the Company. In considering the Company’s performance in relation to the remuneration policy, due regard is 
given to Shareholder wealth creation including movements in the market value of the Company’s shares.  

The intention of the Company’s remuneration framework is to ensure remuneration and reward structures are 
aligned with Shareholders’ interests by: 

• being market competitive to attract and retain high calibre individuals; 
• rewarding superior individual performance; 
• recognising the contribution of each executive to the continued growth and success of the Company; and 
• linking long-term incentives to Shareholder value. 

To achieve these objectives, the remuneration structure of executives provides a combination of fixed and variable 
pay, and comprises of: 

• total fixed remuneration, inclusive of base pay, superannuation and other benefits;  
• performance based short-term incentives; and  
• performance based long-term incentives.  
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 i) Total fixed remuneration  

Total fixed remuneration (“TFR”) for each executive is influenced by the nature and responsibilities of each role 
and the knowledge, skills and experience required for each position. TFR comprises base salary, statutory 
superannuation and other benefits.  

Base salary for each executive is reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and 
approved by the Board. The process includes a review of the Company and individual’s performance and the 
market rate for the position, which is determined with the assistance of external advisors (where necessary) and 
reference to relevant surveys and reports. There is no guaranteed base pay increase included in any executive 
contracts.  

 ii) Short-term incentives 

Short-term incentives (“STIs”) comprise generally a cash bonus or incentive. The STIs are structured as 
performance-based remuneration which are linked to achievement of shorter-term performance targets or 
objectives in a period of 12 months.  

STIs payments are recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved at the 
discretion of the Board based on the attainment of Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”). KPIs are set annually by 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board. 

 iii) Long-term incentives 

Long-term incentives (“LTIs”), which may comprise shares, options and/or performance rights, are granted at the 
discretion of the Board, subject to obtaining relevant approvals if required, and vest on attainment of both 
service period and performance hurdles. These LTIs are granted under the Company’s Employee Equity 
Incentive Plan. The LTIs are designed to align the remuneration of executives with creation of value for 
Shareholders and provide a link between executive remuneration and the level of their performance and the 
performance of the Company. 

 iv) Securities Trading Policy 

The trading of shares issued to participants under any of the Company’s Employee Equity Incentive Plans is 
subject to, and conditional upon compliance with the Company’s Securities Trading Policy. Executives are 
prohibited from entering into any hedging arrangements over unvested securities under the Company’s 
Employee Incentive Plans and the Securities Trading Policy.  

D)  Link Between Performance and Remuneration Outcomes 
The remuneration framework detailed above has been tailored with the objective of attracting and retaining high 
calibre individuals who contribute to the success of the Company, while maintaining alignment between Company 
performance and individual rewards. The remuneration policies seek a balance between the interests of 
stakeholders and competitive market remuneration levels.  

 Company Performance 

The Group’s performance for FY2022 and the previous four financial years, and its impact on Shareholder wealth 
as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) is summarised in the table below. 

 

Year ended 30 June Units 2022  2021  2020 2019 2018 

Market capitalisation $m 808.9 467.0 269.9 126.2 83.7 
Closing share price at 30 June $ 1.67 1.08 0.78 0.44 0.38 
Loss for the year  $m ($14.7) ($13.4) ($14.3) ($13.7) ($4.7) 
Loss per share cents (3.1) (3.1) (4.4) (6.1) (2.3) 

Mincor Resources NL  |   Annual  Report  202232



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
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stakeholders and competitive market remuneration levels.  

 Company Performance 

The Group’s performance for FY2022 and the previous four financial years, and its impact on Shareholder wealth 
as required to be disclosed under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) is summarised in the table below. 
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 Short-term Incentives 

The KPIs for FY2022 STIs were linked to the Company’s safety performance, Mineral Resource/Ore Reserve and 
exploration, development of KNO and environment and sustainability reporting milestones. Subsequent to 30 June 
2022, the Board determined to pay STIs to the executives in recognition of achievements made against performance 
targets set at the beginning of the financial year:  

 

KPI Weighting Measures Outcome 

Group safety 
performance 

20% • Improvement of TRIFR against previous 
year. 

• Nil Lost-Time Injuries. 

• Total number of TRIFR classified 
incidents in FY2022. 

Ranges between target and not 
achieved metrics due to minor 
reportable incidents during the 
year. 

KNO development 
and production 

30% • Pre-production CAPEX against Board 
Approved Plan. 

• First concentrate production. 

Ranges between target and stretch 
metrics following delivery of first 
ore to the Kambalda Nickel 
Concentrator in May 2022. 

Nickel Mineral 
Resources/Ore 
Reserves and 
exploration success  

20% • Significant nickel intersection(s) in 
Golden Mile. 

• Significant nickel intersection(s) in a 
Greenfield environment. 

Stretch metric achieved with 
announcements of significant 
drilling intersections at various 
exploration project areas. 

Sustainability 
reporting 

10% • Publish the inaugural Sustainability 
Report. 

Stretch metric achieved with the 
release of the inaugural 
Sustainability Report 

Personal 
performance  

20% • A range of short-term performance 
measures which were aligned with 
important objectives of the Company 
and its operations including pre-
production cost controls, working capital 
and cash position. Compliance with the 
Company’s debt facility and ongoing 
development of company culture.  

As per the executive’s performance 
review. 

Total 100%   

Based on an assessment undertaken by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and subsequently approved 
by the Board, STI awards for FY2022 to KMP were as follows: 

 

Executives Position Maximum STI  
% of TFR 

Achieved STI 
($) 

Awarded STI 
% of TFR 

David Southam Managing Director 60% of TFR 364,000 52.0% 
Chen Sun Chief Financial Officer 40% of TFR 115,600 34.0% 
Dean Will Chief Operating Officer 40% of TFR 124,382 30.3% 
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 Long-term Incentives 

Details on the Performance Rights issued to executives during the financial year are included in Section (G)(ii) of this 
report. 

On 21 July 2022, the Board determined the outcome of the Performance Rights with a performance period 
measurement of 1 February 2019 to 30 June 2022 issued to the Managing Director and 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022 
issued to Other Executives:  

 

Vesting conditions 
Managing Director and Other Executives 
Weighting of total 

Performance Rights  
Outcome  

Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) for the Company over the performance 
period relative to the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on a 
sliding scale 

30% 30% 

TSR for the Company over the Performance Period of greater than 15% 
compound annual growth 

40% 40% 

Company being listed in the ASX300 within the Performance Period 30% 0% 

Total 100% 70% 

These outcomes have been accounted for in the FY2022 Remuneration Report. 

E)  Details of Remuneration 
Details of the remuneration for KMP are set out in the following tables. 

 

2022 
 
 
 
 
Name 

Short-term employee benefits 
Post-

employment 
benefits 

Long-
term 

benefits 

Share-based 
payments (LTI)3 

Total 
$ 

Linked to 
perform-

ance 
% Directors 

fees 
$ 

Salary 
$ 

STI  
bonus 

$ 
Other2 

$ 

Super-
annuation 

$ 

Long 
service 
leave 

$ 

Perform-
ance 

Rights 
$ 

Options 
$ 

Non-
Executive 
Directors 

          

B Lambert 147,000 - - - 14,700 - - - 161,700 - 
M Bohm 98,000 - - - 9,800 - - - 107,800 - 
L Carpene 98,000 - - - 9,800 - - - 107,800 - 
P Bewick 85,000 - - - 8,500 - - - 93,500 - 
Subtotal 428,000 - - - 42,800 - - - 470,800  

Executive 
Director 

          

D Southam1 - 672,500 364,000 55,7305 27,500 (22,153)4 (73,666)4 83,541 1,107,452 34% 

Other KMP           
C Sun - 312,500 115,600 25,665 27,500 12,895 217,523 - 711,683 47% 
D Will - 383,000 124,382 23,388 27,500 6,906 270,937 - 836,113 47% 
Subtotal - 695,500 239,982 49,053 55,000 19,801 488,460 - 1,547,796  

TOTAL 428,000 1,368,000 603,982 104,783 125,300 (2,352) 414,794 83,541 3,126,048  
1 Subsequent to year-end, Mr D Southam resigned effective 12 August 2022. 
2 Other short-term employee benefits include FY2022 movement in annual leave provisions. 
3 Relates to the non-cash value of Performance Rights and Options expensed during the financial year under Australian Accounting 

Standards. 
4 Amount represents reversal of long service leave entitlements accrued and share-based payments expensed in previous financial years. 
5  Mr D Southam’s leave entitlements at 30 June 2022 totalling $125,017 were paid out on resignation. 
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 Long-term Incentives 

Details on the Performance Rights issued to executives during the financial year are included in Section (G)(ii) of this 
report. 

On 21 July 2022, the Board determined the outcome of the Performance Rights with a performance period 
measurement of 1 February 2019 to 30 June 2022 issued to the Managing Director and 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022 
issued to Other Executives:  

 

Vesting conditions 
Managing Director and Other Executives 
Weighting of total 

Performance Rights  
Outcome  
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30% 30% 

TSR for the Company over the Performance Period of greater than 15% 
compound annual growth 

40% 40% 

Company being listed in the ASX300 within the Performance Period 30% 0% 

Total 100% 70% 

These outcomes have been accounted for in the FY2022 Remuneration Report. 

E)  Details of Remuneration 
Details of the remuneration for KMP are set out in the following tables. 

 

2022 
 
 
 
 
Name 

Short-term employee benefits 
Post-

employment 
benefits 

Long-
term 

benefits 

Share-based 
payments (LTI)3 

Total 
$ 

Linked to 
perform-

ance 
% Directors 

fees 
$ 

Salary 
$ 

STI  
bonus 

$ 
Other2 

$ 

Super-
annuation 

$ 

Long 
service 
leave 

$ 

Perform-
ance 

Rights 
$ 

Options 
$ 

Non-
Executive 
Directors 

          

B Lambert 147,000 - - - 14,700 - - - 161,700 - 
M Bohm 98,000 - - - 9,800 - - - 107,800 - 
L Carpene 98,000 - - - 9,800 - - - 107,800 - 
P Bewick 85,000 - - - 8,500 - - - 93,500 - 
Subtotal 428,000 - - - 42,800 - - - 470,800  

Executive 
Director 

          

D Southam1 - 672,500 364,000 55,7305 27,500 (22,153)4 (73,666)4 83,541 1,107,452 34% 

Other KMP           
C Sun - 312,500 115,600 25,665 27,500 12,895 217,523 - 711,683 47% 
D Will - 383,000 124,382 23,388 27,500 6,906 270,937 - 836,113 47% 
Subtotal - 695,500 239,982 49,053 55,000 19,801 488,460 - 1,547,796  

TOTAL 428,000 1,368,000 603,982 104,783 125,300 (2,352) 414,794 83,541 3,126,048  
1 Subsequent to year-end, Mr D Southam resigned effective 12 August 2022. 
2 Other short-term employee benefits include FY2022 movement in annual leave provisions. 
3 Relates to the non-cash value of Performance Rights and Options expensed during the financial year under Australian Accounting 

Standards. 
4 Amount represents reversal of long service leave entitlements accrued and share-based payments expensed in previous financial years. 
5  Mr D Southam’s leave entitlements at 30 June 2022 totalling $125,017 were paid out on resignation. 
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2021 
 
 
 
 
Name 

Short-term employee benefits 
Post-

employment 
benefits 

Long-term 
benefits 

Share-based 
payments (LTI)2 

Total 
$ 

Linked to 
perform-

ance 
% Directors 

fees 
$ 

Salary 
$ 

STI  
bonus 

$ 
Other1 

$ 

Super-
annuation 

$ 

Long 
service 
leave 

$ 

Perform-
ance 

Rights 
$ 

Options 
$ 

Non-
Executive 
Directors 

          

B Lambert 122,500 - - - 11,638 - - - 134,138 - 
M Bohm 82,500 - - - 7,838 - - - 90,338 - 
L Carpene 82,500 - - - 7,838 - - - 90,338 - 
P Bewick 72,500 - - - 6,888 - - - 79,388 - 
Subtotal 360,000 - - - 34,202 - - - 394,202  
Executive 
Director 

          

D Southam - 550,000 296,125 30,692 25,000 10,348 243,030 141,825 1,297,020 53% 
Other KMP           
C Sun - 278,000 101,505 18,678 25,000 7,313 123,959 - 554,455 41% 
D Will - 369,000 131,990 11,908 25,000 6,336 137,574 - 681,808 40% 
Subtotal - 647,000 233,495 30,586 50,000 13,649 261,533 - 1,236,263  

TOTAL 360,000 1,197,000 529,620 61,278 109,202 23,997 504,563 141,825 2,927,485  
1 Other short-term employee benefits include FY2021 movement in annual leave provisions. 
2 Amounts relates to the non-cash value of Performance Rights and Options expensed during the financial year under Australian 

Accounting Standards. 
 

F)  Service Agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for executives are formalised in employment contracts. The 
employment contracts specify the components of remuneration, benefits and notice periods. Participation in LTIs 
is at the discretion of the Board.  

The agreements relating to remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and other 
executives for the financial year are set out below. 

 

Name and 
position 

Term of 
agreement 

Base salary 
including 

superannuation  

Maximum 
STI 

potential 

Maximum 
A$ value of 

LTI 
Notice period Termination benefit 

D Southam  
Managing 
Director 

Commencing 
1 Feb 2019 $700,000 60% of 

TFR 
100% of 

TFR 

3 months’ notice 
by employee 

12 months’ notice 
by the Company 

12 months’ 
termination payment 

and accrued leave 
entitlements 

C Sun 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

Ongoing 
commencing 
18 Mar 2008 

$340,000 40% of 
TFR 

50% of 
TFR 

3 months’ notice 
by employee 

6 months’ notice 
by the Company 

6 months’ termination 
payment and accrued 

leave entitlements 

D Will 
Chief 
Operating 
Officer 

Ongoing 
commencing 

1 Jul 2019 
$410,500 40% of 

TFR 
50% of 

TFR 

3 months’ notice 
by employee 

6 months’ notice 
by the Company 

6 months’ termination 
payment and accrued 

leave entitlements 

Subsequent to year-end, Mr D Southam resigned effective 12 August 2022. There were no termination benefits paid 
to him other than the payment of the statutory leave entitlements.  
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G)  Share Based Compensation 

 i)  Incentive Options pursuant to Shareholder approval 
The following Incentive Options were granted to Mr Southam for nil cash consideration as part of his service 
agreement on appointment as the Managing Director, as approved by Shareholders on 13 March 2019: 

• 1,500,000 Incentive Options at an exercise price of $0.40 per share, and 
• 1,500,000 Incentive Options at an exercise price of $0.50 per share. 

These options vested on 1 February 2022 and remain unexercised at 30 June 2022. 

The terms and conditions of Incentive Options affecting remuneration in the reporting period are as follows: 
 

Grant date Date vested and 
exercisable Expiry date Exercise price Fair value per option 

at grant date 
Vested and 
exercisable 

13 Mar 2019 1 Feb 2022 13 Mar 2024 $0.40 $0.1535 1,500,000 
13 Mar 2019 1 Feb 2022 13 Mar 2024 $0.50 $0.1304 1,500,000 

  Fair value of Incentive Options granted 

The fair value at grant date stated in the table above was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation 
methodology of Incentive Options and takes into account the following inputs: 

 

Metric Options expiring 13 March 2024 

a. Exercise price $0.40 and $0.50 
b. Grant date 13 March 2019 
c. Expiry date 13 March 2024 
d. Share price at grant date $0.365 
e. Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares 49% 
f. Expected dividend yield 0% 
g. Risk-free interest rate 1.601% 

 ii) Performance Rights  

  Performance Rights issued under the Incentive Plan 

 Executives were granted Performance Rights under the Company’s Employee Equity Incentive Plan (“Incentive 
Plan”) which are subject to vesting conditions related to achieving a matrix of performance targets measured 
over a three-year period. The number of Performance Rights granted was capped at 50% of TFR for executives 
other than the Managing Director.  

As part of Mr Southam’s appointment as Managing Director on 1 February 2019, he was granted 1,404,889 
Performance Rights under the Incentive Plan. Pursuant to the terms of his employment, Mr Southam was not 
eligible to participate in another performance rights grant until the commencement of the 2021 financial year.  

The Performance Rights over ordinary shares are granted under the Incentive Plan for nil cash consideration 
and carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercised, each Performance Right will be converted into one 
ordinary share. 

The terms and conditions of each grant of Performance Rights affecting remuneration in the reporting period 
are set out below: 

 

Grant date 
Performance 
measurement 

period 
Expiry date Vesting conditions 

Value per 
Performance 

Right at 
grant date 

Executives (excluding Managing Director) 
15 Nov 20191  1 Jul 2019 to 

30 Jun 2022 
2 years after 

vesting of 
Performance 

Rights 

30% of Performance Rights vest based on the TSR for 
the Company over the performance period relative to 
the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on 
a sliding scale, over the same period.  

$0.62  
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a. Exercise price $0.40 and $0.50 
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d. Share price at grant date $0.365 
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  Performance Rights issued under the Incentive Plan 
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Plan”) which are subject to vesting conditions related to achieving a matrix of performance targets measured 
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other than the Managing Director.  

As part of Mr Southam’s appointment as Managing Director on 1 February 2019, he was granted 1,404,889 
Performance Rights under the Incentive Plan. Pursuant to the terms of his employment, Mr Southam was not 
eligible to participate in another performance rights grant until the commencement of the 2021 financial year.  

The Performance Rights over ordinary shares are granted under the Incentive Plan for nil cash consideration 
and carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercised, each Performance Right will be converted into one 
ordinary share. 

The terms and conditions of each grant of Performance Rights affecting remuneration in the reporting period 
are set out below: 

 

Grant date 
Performance 
measurement 

period 
Expiry date Vesting conditions 

Value per 
Performance 

Right at 
grant date 

Executives (excluding Managing Director) 
15 Nov 20191  1 Jul 2019 to 

30 Jun 2022 
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Grant date 
Performance 
measurement 

period 
Expiry date Vesting conditions 

Value per 
Performance 

Right at 
grant date 

40% of the Performance Rights vest based on 
achieving a TSR for the Company over the 
Performance Period of greater than 15% compound 
annual growth.  

$0.44  

30% of the Performance Rights upon the Company 
being listed in the ASX300 within the Performance 
Period.  

$0.42  

30 Oct 2020 1 Jul 2020 to 
30 Jun 2023 

2 years after 
vesting of 

Performance 
Rights 

50% of Performance Rights vest based on the TSR for 
the Company over the performance period relative to 
the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on 
a sliding scale, over the same period.  

$0.66  

50% of the Performance Rights vest based on 
achieving a TSR for the Company over the 
Performance Period of greater than 15% compound 
annual growth.  

$0.55  

24 Sep 2021 1 Jul 2021 to 
30 Jun 2024 

2 years after 
vesting of 

Performance 
Rights 

50% of Performance Rights vest based on the TSR for 
the Company over the performance period relative to 
the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on 
a sliding scale, over the same period.  

$0.91  

50% of the Performance Rights vest based on 
achieving a TSR for the Company over the 
Performance Period of greater than 15% compound 
annual growth.  

$0.74  

Managing Director 

13 Mar 20191 1 Feb 2019 to 
30 Jun 2022 

2 years after 
vesting of 

Performance 
Rights 

30% of Performance Rights vest based on the TSR for 
the Company over the performance period relative to 
the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on 
a sliding scale, over the same period.  

$0.29 

40% of Performance Rights vest based on achieving a 
TSR for the Company over the performance period of 
greater than 15% compound annual growth.  

$0.18 

30% of Performance Rights vest upon the Company 
being listed in the ASX300 within the performance 
period.  

$0.15 

13 Nov 20202 1 Jul 2020 to 
30 Jun 2023 

2 years after 
vesting of 

Performance 
Rights 

50% of Performance Rights vest based on the TSR for 
the Company over the performance period relative to 
the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on 
a sliding scale, over the same period.  

$0.66  

50% of the Performance Rights vest based on 
achieving a TSR for the Company over the 
Performance Period of greater than 15% compound 
annual growth.  

$0.56  

23 Dec 20212 1 Jul 2021 to 
30 Jun 2024 

2 years after 
vesting of 

Performance 
Rights 

50% of Performance Rights vest based on the TSR for 
the Company over the performance period relative to 
the TSR of each of the companies in a peer group, on 
a sliding scale, over the same period.  

$1.16  

50% of the Performance Rights vest based on 
achieving a TSR for the Company over the 
Performance Period of greater than 15% compound 
annual growth.  

$1.12  

1 At 30 June 2022, 70% of the Performance Rights vested and the remaining 30% lapsed, refer to section D above. 
2 Performance Rights lapsed on 12 August 2022 following Mr Southam’s resignation.  
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A component of the TSR performance conditions for Performance Rights are measured against TSR of a 
benchmark peer group, as approved by the Board. The peer group comprises base metal companies listed on 
the ASX which are of similar size to the Company. 

The fair value at grant date stated in the table above is determined using a hybrid employee share option pricing 
model, Monte Carlo simulation and Trinomial valuation methodology, depending on the relevant performance 
conditions attached to the award, and takes into consideration the following inputs: 

 

Metric Performance Rights granted to Executives 

Exercise price Nil Nil Nil 

Grant date 15 Nov 20191 30 Oct 2020 24 Sep 2021 

Expiry date 2 years after vesting of 
Performance Rights  

2 years after vesting of 
Performance Rights  

2 years after vesting of 
Performance Rights  

Share price at grant date $0.66 $0.95 $1.28 

Expected price volatility of the 
Company’s shares 50% 50% 50% 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.85% 0.130% 0.220% 
 

Metric Performance Rights granted to Managing Director 

Exercise price Nil Nil Nil 

Grant date 13 Mar 20191 13 Nov 20202 23 Dec 20212 

Expiry date 
2 years after vesting of 

Performance Rights  
2 years after vesting of 

Performance Rights 
2 years after vesting of 

Performance Rights  

Share price at grant date $0.365 $0.955 $1.625 

Expected price volatility of the 
Company’s shares 50% 50% 50% 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.60% 0.115% 0.90% 
1 At 30 June 2022, 70% of the Performance Rights vested and the remaining 30% lapsed, refer to section D above. 
2 1,469,549 unvested Performance Rights lapsed on 12 August 2022 following Mr Southam’s resignation.  

  Performance Rights issued under the Retention Plan 

 During the year, the Company introduced a Retention Plan to reflect the Company’s commitment to retain 
valued employees for the long-term. The Performance Rights issued pursuant to the Plan were issued under the 
Company’s existing Employee Equity Incentive Plan. Under the Plan, 284,946 Performance Rights were issued to 
Executives as follows: 

 

Grant date 
Performance 
measurement 

period 
Expiry date Vesting conditions 

Value per 
Performance 
Right at grant 

date 

Executives (excluding Managing Director) 

22 Sep 2021 1 Jul 2021 to 
31 Dec 2022 

2 years after vesting 
of Performance 

Rights 

At 31 Dec 2022: 
• remain employed with the Company;   
• have not been issued with a notice of 

termination nor delivered a resignation 
notice; and  

• not under a performance management 
plan nor subject to disciplinary action.  

$1.29  
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A component of the TSR performance conditions for Performance Rights are measured against TSR of a 
benchmark peer group, as approved by the Board. The peer group comprises base metal companies listed on 
the ASX which are of similar size to the Company. 

The fair value at grant date stated in the table above is determined using a hybrid employee share option pricing 
model, Monte Carlo simulation and Trinomial valuation methodology, depending on the relevant performance 
conditions attached to the award, and takes into consideration the following inputs: 

 

Metric Performance Rights granted to Executives 

Exercise price Nil Nil Nil 

Grant date 15 Nov 20191 30 Oct 2020 24 Sep 2021 

Expiry date 2 years after vesting of 
Performance Rights  

2 years after vesting of 
Performance Rights  

2 years after vesting of 
Performance Rights  

Share price at grant date $0.66 $0.95 $1.28 

Expected price volatility of the 
Company’s shares 50% 50% 50% 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.85% 0.130% 0.220% 
 

Metric Performance Rights granted to Managing Director 

Exercise price Nil Nil Nil 

Grant date 13 Mar 20191 13 Nov 20202 23 Dec 20212 

Expiry date 
2 years after vesting of 

Performance Rights  
2 years after vesting of 

Performance Rights 
2 years after vesting of 

Performance Rights  

Share price at grant date $0.365 $0.955 $1.625 

Expected price volatility of the 
Company’s shares 50% 50% 50% 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.60% 0.115% 0.90% 
1 At 30 June 2022, 70% of the Performance Rights vested and the remaining 30% lapsed, refer to section D above. 
2 1,469,549 unvested Performance Rights lapsed on 12 August 2022 following Mr Southam’s resignation.  

  Performance Rights issued under the Retention Plan 

 During the year, the Company introduced a Retention Plan to reflect the Company’s commitment to retain 
valued employees for the long-term. The Performance Rights issued pursuant to the Plan were issued under the 
Company’s existing Employee Equity Incentive Plan. Under the Plan, 284,946 Performance Rights were issued to 
Executives as follows: 

 

Grant date 
Performance 
measurement 

period 
Expiry date Vesting conditions 

Value per 
Performance 
Right at grant 

date 

Executives (excluding Managing Director) 

22 Sep 2021 1 Jul 2021 to 
31 Dec 2022 

2 years after vesting 
of Performance 

Rights 

At 31 Dec 2022: 
• remain employed with the Company;   
• have not been issued with a notice of 

termination nor delivered a resignation 
notice; and  

• not under a performance management 
plan nor subject to disciplinary action.  

$1.29  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

With the vesting condition considered a non-market-based vesting condition, the Black-Scholes options pricing 
model was used to determine the fair value at grant date, which took into consideration the following inputs: 

 

Metric Performance Rights granted to Executives 

Exercise price Nil 
Grant date 22 Sep 2021 
Expiry date 2 years after vesting of Performance Rights  
Share price at grant date $1.285 
Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares 50% 
Expected dividend yield 0% 
Risk-free interest rate 0.005% 

  Performance Rights holdings 

The number of Performance Rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by KMP, 
including their personally related parties, are set out below. 

 

Name 

Outstanding Performance 
Rights at 1 July 2021 Granted as 

compensation Vested1 

Forfeited/ 
Lapsed/ 

Cessation as 
KMP1 

Outstanding Performance 
Rights at 30 June 20222 

Vested and 
exercisable Unvested Vested and 

exercisable Unvested 

D Southam - 2,186,139 688,299 983,422 (421,467) 983,422 1,469,549 
C Sun 98,882 543,837 295,189 236,597 (101,399) 335,479 501,030 
D Will - 716,381 358,734 314,102 (134,615) 314,102 626,398 

1 At 30 June 2022, 70% of the Performance Rights granted to Mr Southam on 13 March 2019 and to Ms Sun and Mr Will on 
15 November 2019 vested and the remaining 30% lapsed, refer to section D above. 

2 1,469,549 unvested Performance Rights lapsed on 12 August 2022 on Mr Southam’s resignation.  

H)  Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by KMP of the Company, including their 
personally related parties, are set out below.  

 

Name Balance at 
1 July 2021 

Received on the exercise 
of Performance Rights 

Other 
changes1 

Balance at  
30 June 2022 

2022     

Directors of Mincor     
B Lambert (Chair) 183,333 - 23,427 206,760 
D Southam - - - - 
M Bohm 997,602 - (173,126) 824,476 
L Carpene 170,833 - 23,437 194,270 
P Bewick - - - - 

Other KMP     
C Sun 199,877 - - 199,877 
D Will - - - - 

1 Other changes represent shares that were purchased or sold (including via the Share Purchase Plan) during the year or shares held by 
KMP who ceased to be a KMP. 

I)  Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel  
There were no other transactions with KMP during the 2022 and 2021 financial year. 

 
THIS CONCLUDES THE REMUNERATION REPORT. 
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SHARES UNDER OPTION 
Unissued ordinary shares in the Company under option at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Date Options 
granted 

Expiry date 
Exercise price 

of Options 
Number of 

Options 

13 Mar 2019 13 Mar 2024 $0.40 1,500,000 
13 Mar 2019 13 Mar 2024 $0.50 1,500,000 

SHARES UNDER PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
Unissued ordinary shares in the Company pursuant to the Incentive Plan at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Date Performance 
Rights granted 

Expiry date 
Number of 

Performance Rights 

19 Mar 2019 30 Jun 2023 209,827 
13 Mar 2019 30 Jun 2024 983,422 
15 Nov 2019 30 Jun 2024 871,023 
30 Oct 2020 30 Jun 2025 922,236  
22 Feb 2021 30 Jun 2025 157,179 
29 Apr 2021 30 Jun 2025 18,096 
22 Sep 2021 31 Dec 2024 1,625,256 
24 Sep 2021 30 Jun 2025 1,350,090 
17 Dec 2021 30 Jun 2025 88,905 
22 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2024 169,494 
6 May 2022 30 Jun 2025 92,237 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 
No ordinary shares of the Company were issued during and/or since the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of 
this report on the exercise of Options granted by the Company.  

SHARES ISSUED ON THE VESTING OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
During the financial year and up to the date of the report, 242,936 ordinary shares of the Company were issued on 
exercise of Performance Rights granted by the Company. 

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
Subsequent to 30 June 2022, Mr David Southam, Managing Director of the Company, resigned effective 12 August 2022. 
Ms Gabrielle Iwanow has been appointed to replace Mr Southam and will commence in November 2022. Mr Brett 
Lambert was appointed as Interim Executive Chairman during the transition period. 

There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the Group in the future financial years. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
A summary of the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices and compliance with the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition) will be provided at the same 
time as the 2022 Annual Report. 

Mincor Resources NL  |   Annual  Report  202240



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

SHARES UNDER OPTION 
Unissued ordinary shares in the Company under option at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Date Options 
granted 

Expiry date 
Exercise price 

of Options 
Number of 

Options 

13 Mar 2019 13 Mar 2024 $0.40 1,500,000 
13 Mar 2019 13 Mar 2024 $0.50 1,500,000 

SHARES UNDER PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
Unissued ordinary shares in the Company pursuant to the Incentive Plan at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

Date Performance 
Rights granted 

Expiry date 
Number of 

Performance Rights 

19 Mar 2019 30 Jun 2023 209,827 
13 Mar 2019 30 Jun 2024 983,422 
15 Nov 2019 30 Jun 2024 871,023 
30 Oct 2020 30 Jun 2025 922,236  
22 Feb 2021 30 Jun 2025 157,179 
29 Apr 2021 30 Jun 2025 18,096 
22 Sep 2021 31 Dec 2024 1,625,256 
24 Sep 2021 30 Jun 2025 1,350,090 
17 Dec 2021 30 Jun 2025 88,905 
22 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2024 169,494 
6 May 2022 30 Jun 2025 92,237 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 
No ordinary shares of the Company were issued during and/or since the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of 
this report on the exercise of Options granted by the Company.  

SHARES ISSUED ON THE VESTING OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
During the financial year and up to the date of the report, 242,936 ordinary shares of the Company were issued on 
exercise of Performance Rights granted by the Company. 

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
Subsequent to 30 June 2022, Mr David Southam, Managing Director of the Company, resigned effective 12 August 2022. 
Ms Gabrielle Iwanow has been appointed to replace Mr Southam and will commence in November 2022. Mr Brett 
Lambert was appointed as Interim Executive Chairman during the transition period. 

There has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the Group in the future financial years. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
A summary of the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices and compliance with the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition) will be provided at the same 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001(Cth) for leave to bring any proceedings 
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
The Group is subject to environmental regulation on its mineral properties. To this extent, the Group has raised 
rehabilitation provisions of $13.7 million (2021: $11.4 million).  

National Pollutant Inventory and Greenhouse Gas and Energy Data Reporting 
Requirements 
The Group is subject to the reporting requirements of the National Environmental Protection (National Pollution Inventory) 
Measures 1998. This requires the Group to measure and report its annual emissions of specified substances to air, land 
and water if usages of certain substances or fuel exceed reporting thresholds. The Cassini, Otter Juan and Long Victor 
Nickel Operations have exceeded a number of these thresholds and will submit its 2021/2022 National Pollutant 
Inventory Report to the Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment by the legislated due date of 30 
September 2022. The Group has implemented systems and processes for the collection and calculation of the data 
required for this report. 

The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 requires the Group to track its annual greenhouse gas emissions 
and energy use. During the financial year, the Group’s annual greenhouse gas emission and energy usage were above 
the reporting threshold for National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting, and therefore was required to submit a 
2021/2022 National Greenhouse and Energy Report.  

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 
During financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of Directors’ and Executive Officers’ insurance. The contract 
contains a prohibition on disclosure of the amount of the premium and the nature of the liabilities under the policy. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought 
against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred 
by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving 
a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain 
advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the Company.  

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
The Company may decide to engage the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the 
auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the current auditor (Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu) for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the financial year are detailed in Note 32 to the financial statements. 

The Board of Directors has considered the position and in accordance with the advice received from the Audit and Risk 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The Directors are satisfied that the provision of 
non-audit services by the auditor, as set out in Note 32, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the following reasons: 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and  

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants.  
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) is set 
out separately in this report (page 43). 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 
The Company has relied on the relief provided by the ‘ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Report) 
Instrument 2016/191’, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the rounding off of 
amounts in the Directors’ Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report have been rounded off in accordance with the 
Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 
 
Dated in Perth this 30th day of August 2022 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 
 
Brett Lambert 
Interim Executive Chairman 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
Mincor Resources NL 
Ground Floor 
9 Havelock Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
 
30 August 2022 
 
 
Dear Board Members 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration Mincor Resources NL 

 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration independence to the directors of Mincor Resources NL. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Mincor Resources NL for the year ended 30 
June 2022, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 
audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 
 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
David Newman 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Tower 2, Brookfield Place 
123 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 
GPO Box A46 
Perth WA 6837 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 8 9365 7000 
Fax:  +61 8 9365 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

 Note 
2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Revenue  4 32,374 114 

Cost of sales 5 (17,316) - 

Gross profit  15,058 114 

General and administrative expenses  (6,760) (5,497) 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 16 (15,309) (7,310) 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 16 (1,458) - 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 17 (2,497) - 

Depreciation and amortisation  (277) (336) 

Gain from sale of property, plant and equipment  278 - 

Gain from sale of exploration and evaluation asset 13 3,082 - 

Loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 6 (1,607) (139) 

Adjustments to rehabilitation and mine closure cost provision 22 (857) (452) 

Share-based payments 28 (2,328) (910) 

Other income and expenses  278 1,162 

Operating loss before interest and income tax  (12,397) (13,368) 

Finance costs 7 (2,309) (61) 

Loss before income tax   (14,706) (13,429) 

Income tax expense 8 - - 

Loss after income tax   (14,706) (13,429) 

Other comprehensive income    

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 18 (39,068) (14,330) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  (39,068) (14,330) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the 
members of Mincor Resources NL   (53,774) (27,759) 

  Cents Cents 

Loss per share 9 (3.1) (3.1) 

Diluted loss per share 9 (3.1) (3.1) 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 

 

  
Note 

2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  10 78,636 58,634 
Restricted cash 10 424 295 
Trade and other receivables 11 2,196 659 
Derivative financial assets 18 4,821 - 
Inventories 12 1,644 177 
Investments at fair value 13 2,011 526 
Assets classified as held for sale 14 - 201 
Other current assets 15 1,007 777 

Total Current Assets  90,739 61,269 

Non-Current Assets    
Exploration and evaluation assets 16 1,119 2,577 
Property, plant and equipment 17 132,677 60,230 
Other non-current assets 15 - 2,366 

Total Non-Current Assets  133,796 65,173 

TOTAL ASSETS  224,535 126,442 

Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables  19 20,382 7,590 
Lease liabilities 20 64 191 
Borrowings 21 14,318 - 
Provisions 22 1,717 1,191 
Derivative financial liabilities 18 41,251 - 

Total Current Liabilities  77,732 8,972 

Non-Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 19 2,018 278 
Lease liabilities 20 57 110 
Borrowings 21 14,919 - 
Provisions 22 13,868 11,490 
Derivative financial liabilities 18 12,147 14,330 
Other financial liabilities 23 1,855 1,845 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  44,864 28,053 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  122,596 37,025 

NET ASSETS  101,939 89,417 

Equity    
Contributed equity 24 218,348 154,337 
Reserves 25 (49,903) (12,900) 
Accumulated losses  (66,506) (52,020) 

TOTAL EQUITY  101,939 89,417 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

 Note 

Contributed 
equity 
$’000 

Accumulated 
losses 
$’000 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
$’000 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
$’000  

Total 
$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2020  95,340 (38,591) 1,197 - 57,946 

Loss for the year   - (13,429) - - (13,429) 

Effective portion of changes in 
fair value of cash flow hedges  - - - (14,330) (14,330) 

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year  - (13,429) - (14,330) (27,759) 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:       

- Share Placement 24 50,000 - - - 50,000 

- Share Purchase Plan 24 10,354 - - - 10,354 

- Share issue cost 24 (2,044) - - - (2,044) 

- Shares issued on exercise 
of options 24 10 - - - 10 

- Employee share options 
and performance rights 28 - - 910 - 910 

- Transfer between reserves 
arising from issued and 
expired Options and 
Performance Rights 28 677 - (677) - - 

  58,997 - 233 - 59,230 

Balance at 30 June 2021  154,337 (52,020) 1,430 (14,330) 89,417 

Loss for the year  - (14,706) - - (14,706) 

Effective portion of changes in 
fair value of cash flow hedges  - - - (39,068) (39,068) 

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year  - (14,706) - (39,068) (53,774) 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:       

- Share Placement 24 60,000 - - - 60,000 

- Share Purchase Plan 24 6,281 - - - 6,281 

- Share issue cost 24 (2,313)    (2,313) 

- Employee share options 
and performance rights 28 - - 2,328 - 2,328 

- Transfer between reserves 
arising from issued Options 
and Performance Rights 28 43 220 (263) - - 

  64,011 220 2,065 - 66,296 

Balance at 30 June 2022  218,348 (66,506) 3,495 (53,398) 101,939 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 

  
Note 

2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts from customers  27,953 145 

Payments for operating activities   (18,897) (4,917) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure  (15,202) (7,261) 

  (6,146) (12,033) 

Interest received  168 327 

Other income   94 47 

Other expenses  - (542) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities  10 (5,884) (12,201) 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (6,564) (3,017) 

Payments for mine development  (60,228) (28,482) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  92 75 

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale  403 - 

Proceeds from disposal of exploration and evaluation asset  - 700 

Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure  - (958) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (66,297) (31,682) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from the issue of shares, net of capital raising costs  63,968 58,320 

Proceeds from borrowings   30,000 - 

Lease payments  (199) (114) 

Payments for transactions costs associated with undrawn debt 
facility 

 
(698) (2,349) 

Interest paid on financing facilities   (759) - 

Payments from cash restricted cash accounts   (129) (64) 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  92,183 55,793 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  20,002 11,910 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  58,634 46,724 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 10 78,636 58,634 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 
Mincor Resources NL (“Mincor”, or “the Company”) is a for-profit company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia whose shares are publicly listed on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (“ASX”). At 30 June 2022, the 
Company’s registered office was Ground Floor, 9 Havelock Street, West Perth, Western Australia. The Company changed 
its registered office and principal place of business to Level 1, 8 Richardson Street, West Perth, Western Australia on 
29 July 2022. 

The principal activities of the companies in the Group, consisting of Mincor and its subsidiaries, during the financial year 
were exploration and mining for mineral resources. 

NOTE 2: ABOUT THIS FINANCIAL REPORT 
The financial report comprises of: 

• consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022;  
• notes to the consolidated financial statements; and  
• the Directors’ declaration about the statements and notes. 

The consolidated general-purpose financial report for the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 was authorised for 
issue by the Directors on 30 August 2022. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report. 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which: 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”). The consolidated financial 
statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”); 

• have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value; 

• adopt all new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant 
to the operations of the Group and effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2021; 

• early adopts AASB 2020-3 Amendments to AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 
(Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). The amendment prohibits an entity offsetting 
proceeds from sale of items produced from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment before the asset is 
available for use. An entity is also required to measure production costs of the sold items by applying AASB 102 
Inventories;  

• other than as noted above, do not early adopt any Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued or 
amended by the AASB but not yet effective, adoption of these Standards and Interpretations are expected not to have 
a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions; and  

• are presented in Australian Dollars, being the Company’s functional currency.  

a) Basis of consolidation 

i) Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as 
at 30 June 2022 and the results of all subsidiaries for the financial year.  

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.  

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases. A list of controlled entities is detailed in Note 27 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred.  

b) Key estimates and judgements 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management has made a number of judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates are based on management’s experience and knowledge of relevant 
facts and circumstances at that time. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Key accounting estimates and judgements 
which are material to the financial report are found in the following sections: 

• Note 4:  Revenue; 
• Note 8:  Income Tax; 
• Note 11:  Trade and Other Receivables; 
• Note 16:  Exploration and Evaluation; 
• Note 17:  Property, Plant and Equipment;  
• Note 18:  Derivative Financial Instruments; and 
• Note 22: Rehabilitation and Mine Closure Costs. 

c) New accounting standards and interpretations 
The Group has applied amendments to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard 
Board that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 July 2022. Other than the early adoption of 
AASB 2020-3 Amendments to AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use, described 
in Note 2, adoption of these amendments has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts 
reported in these financial statements.  

NOTE 3: OPERATING SEGMENTS 

a) Description of segments 
The Group identifies its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Chief 
Executive Officer and his executive team (the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”)) in assessing performance 
and determining the allocation of resources.  

Reportable segments have been identified as: 

• Kambalda Nickel Operations (“KNO”): 

- KNO comprises Northern Operations (Durkin North and Long North mines) and the Cassini mine located in 
the Kambalda district, Western Australia.  

- Nickel sulphide ore mined from KNO are transported to the Kambalda Nickel Concentrator, which is sold to 
BHP Nickel West Pty Ltd (“BHP”) under the Ore Tolling and Concentrate Purchase Agreement (“OTCPA”) 
executed in August 2019 and amended in April 2022. 

• Exploration: 

- Exploration activities comprise the Group’s exploration and evaluation prospects in Australia, including sites 
on care and maintenance. The Group’s General Manager Exploration regularly reports to the CODM against 
annual exploration budgets. Should an exploration prospect lead to the construction of a mining operation, 
that operation would be disaggregated from the exploration and become a separate reportable segment or 
be added to an existing segment, such as KNO, as appropriate.  

Mincor Resources NL  |   Annual  Report  202250



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

KEY NUMBERS 

ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred.  

b) Key estimates and judgements 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management has made a number of judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates are based on management’s experience and knowledge of relevant 
facts and circumstances at that time. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Key accounting estimates and judgements 
which are material to the financial report are found in the following sections: 

• Note 4:  Revenue; 
• Note 8:  Income Tax; 
• Note 11:  Trade and Other Receivables; 
• Note 16:  Exploration and Evaluation; 
• Note 17:  Property, Plant and Equipment;  
• Note 18:  Derivative Financial Instruments; and 
• Note 22: Rehabilitation and Mine Closure Costs. 

c) New accounting standards and interpretations 
The Group has applied amendments to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard 
Board that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 July 2022. Other than the early adoption of 
AASB 2020-3 Amendments to AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use, described 
in Note 2, adoption of these amendments has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts 
reported in these financial statements.  

NOTE 3: OPERATING SEGMENTS 

a) Description of segments 
The Group identifies its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Chief 
Executive Officer and his executive team (the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”)) in assessing performance 
and determining the allocation of resources.  

Reportable segments have been identified as: 

• Kambalda Nickel Operations (“KNO”): 

- KNO comprises Northern Operations (Durkin North and Long North mines) and the Cassini mine located in 
the Kambalda district, Western Australia.  

- Nickel sulphide ore mined from KNO are transported to the Kambalda Nickel Concentrator, which is sold to 
BHP Nickel West Pty Ltd (“BHP”) under the Ore Tolling and Concentrate Purchase Agreement (“OTCPA”) 
executed in August 2019 and amended in April 2022. 

• Exploration: 

- Exploration activities comprise the Group’s exploration and evaluation prospects in Australia, including sites 
on care and maintenance. The Group’s General Manager Exploration regularly reports to the CODM against 
annual exploration budgets. Should an exploration prospect lead to the construction of a mining operation, 
that operation would be disaggregated from the exploration and become a separate reportable segment or 
be added to an existing segment, such as KNO, as appropriate.  
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b) Segment information 
 

Exploration 
$’000 

Kambalda 
Nickel 

Operations 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

2022    
Revenue - 32,374 32,374 
Cost of sales - (17,316) (17,316) 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure  (15,309) - (15,309) 
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (1,458) - (1,458) 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - (2,497) (2,497) 
Depreciation and amortisation (259) - (259) 
Gain on disposal of exploration and evaluation assets 3,082 - 3,082 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 278 278 
Loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (1,597) - (1,597) 
Adjustments to rehabilitation provision  (857) - (857) 
Finance costs - (2,309) (2,309) 
Total segment results (16,398) 10,530 (5,868) 

Segment assets  1,573 141,274 142,847 
Segment liabilities  6,892 111,826 118,718 

2021    
Exploration and evaluation expenditure (7,339) - (7,339) 
Depreciation and amortisation (73) - (73) 
Adjustments to rehabilitation provision (359) - (359) 
Gain on disposal of exploration and evaluation assets 1,223 - 1,223 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 75 75 
Other income and expenses - 70 70 
Total segment results (6,548) 145 (6,403) 

Segment assets 2,923 63,356 66,279 
Segment liabilities 6,297 28,750 35,047 

c) Reconciliation of operating loss  
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Segment loss (5,868) (6,403) 
Sundry income  - 373 
Loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (10) (139) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (18) (263) 
Share-based payments (2,328) (910) 
Corporate expenses (6,482) (6,087) 
Loss before income tax (14,706) (13,429) 

d) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Segment assets 142,847 66,279 
Corporate assets 2,628 1,234 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 79,060 58,929 
Consolidated Total Assets 224,535 126,442 

Segment liabilities 118,718 35,047 
Corporate liabilities 3,878 1,978 
Consolidated Total Liabilities 122,596 37,025 
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NOTE 4: REVENUE 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Revenue from contracts with customers    
Revenue from the sale of goods  32,570 - 
Other revenue from contracts with customers 131 114 
   
Realised and unrealised pricing adjustments1   
Provisional pricing adjustments  (5,148) - 

Quotational period hedge adjustments 4,821 - 
 32,374 114 

1 Represents realised and unrealised fair value movement on receivables and Quotational period hedges. 

a) Recognition and measurement 

i) Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is derived from the sale of imputed nickel, copper and cobalt concentrate from 
ore deliveries to BHP under the OTCPA. The Group recognises revenue when control passes to the buyer under 
the OTCPA, which is when the ore is delivered to Kambalda Nickel Concentrator (“NKC”). At this point, the Group 
has the right to payments and the buyer has accepted legal ownership of the ore and the performance obligation 
under the OTCPA is met.  

Revenue is recognised based on the expected consideration receivable that is highly probable of not reversing 
by reference to the relevant commodity price and substantially finalised mineral specifications. Price 
adjustments subsequent to the delivery of the ore and recognition of the sale, are recognised as embedded 
commodity derivatives, refer to (ii) below. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised net of ore processing and freight costs which are provided under 
the OTCPA. Processing and freight are not considered to be a distinct service under the OTCPA as the Group’s 
promise to provide these services are not separately identifiable from the promise to deliver the ore.  

ii) Realised and unrealised pricing adjustments 
These adjustments comprise of: 

• Provisionally priced sales for which price finalisation is referenced to the relevant metal price index, have an 
embedded commodity derivative. The embedded derivative is carried at fair value through profit or loss as 
part of trade receivables, with adjustments recognised separately rather than as Revenue from the sale of 
goods. The period between provisional pricing and final invoicing is generally two months; 

• Gains and losses on derivatives (Quotational Period hedge) executed to manage the risk associated with 
commodity price fluctuations on the embedded commodity derivative between delivery and settlement; and 

• Transfer of the cash flow hedge relating to the reclassification of the effective portion of nickel swaps when 
the forecast sales occur. Subsequent adjustments are recognised as other income until hedge settlement 
occurs, refer to Note 18 for further details on cash flow hedges. 

b) Key estimates and judgements 

Judgement is exercised in determining when revenue is recognised which considers when the Company’s 
performance obligation under the OTCPA has been satisfied. Management has concluded that the performance 
obligation is satisfied when the ore is delivered to the ROM pad at the NKC and the control of the ore has been 
passed to the buyer.  

Ore was delivered from all three mine sites although only Durkin North achieved mine production start date during 
the financial year, refer to Note 17. 

Revenue from the sale is determined based on the prevailing forward metal price on the relevant metal price index 
in the month of delivery, which reflects an estimate of the final price.  
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NOTE 4: REVENUE 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Revenue from contracts with customers    
Revenue from the sale of goods  32,570 - 
Other revenue from contracts with customers 131 114 
   
Realised and unrealised pricing adjustments1   
Provisional pricing adjustments  (5,148) - 

Quotational period hedge adjustments 4,821 - 
 32,374 114 

1 Represents realised and unrealised fair value movement on receivables and Quotational period hedges. 

a) Recognition and measurement 

i) Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is derived from the sale of imputed nickel, copper and cobalt concentrate from 
ore deliveries to BHP under the OTCPA. The Group recognises revenue when control passes to the buyer under 
the OTCPA, which is when the ore is delivered to Kambalda Nickel Concentrator (“NKC”). At this point, the Group 
has the right to payments and the buyer has accepted legal ownership of the ore and the performance obligation 
under the OTCPA is met.  

Revenue is recognised based on the expected consideration receivable that is highly probable of not reversing 
by reference to the relevant commodity price and substantially finalised mineral specifications. Price 
adjustments subsequent to the delivery of the ore and recognition of the sale, are recognised as embedded 
commodity derivatives, refer to (ii) below. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised net of ore processing and freight costs which are provided under 
the OTCPA. Processing and freight are not considered to be a distinct service under the OTCPA as the Group’s 
promise to provide these services are not separately identifiable from the promise to deliver the ore.  

ii) Realised and unrealised pricing adjustments 
These adjustments comprise of: 

• Provisionally priced sales for which price finalisation is referenced to the relevant metal price index, have an 
embedded commodity derivative. The embedded derivative is carried at fair value through profit or loss as 
part of trade receivables, with adjustments recognised separately rather than as Revenue from the sale of 
goods. The period between provisional pricing and final invoicing is generally two months; 

• Gains and losses on derivatives (Quotational Period hedge) executed to manage the risk associated with 
commodity price fluctuations on the embedded commodity derivative between delivery and settlement; and 

• Transfer of the cash flow hedge relating to the reclassification of the effective portion of nickel swaps when 
the forecast sales occur. Subsequent adjustments are recognised as other income until hedge settlement 
occurs, refer to Note 18 for further details on cash flow hedges. 

b) Key estimates and judgements 

Judgement is exercised in determining when revenue is recognised which considers when the Company’s 
performance obligation under the OTCPA has been satisfied. Management has concluded that the performance 
obligation is satisfied when the ore is delivered to the ROM pad at the NKC and the control of the ore has been 
passed to the buyer.  

Ore was delivered from all three mine sites although only Durkin North achieved mine production start date during 
the financial year, refer to Note 17. 

Revenue from the sale is determined based on the prevailing forward metal price on the relevant metal price index 
in the month of delivery, which reflects an estimate of the final price.  
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NOTE 5: COST OF SALES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Mining and production costs 9,966 - 
Employee benefits 5,593 - 

Royalties 610 - 

Amortisation and depreciation 2,584 - 

Direct costs, net of costs capitalised to mine development 18,753 - 
Stockpile movements  (1,437) - 

 17,316 - 

NOTE 6: LOSS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 
LOSS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Loss from revaluation of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss 
(refer to Note 13) 

(1,597) (24) 

Loss from revaluation of financial liability (refer to Note 23) (10) (115) 

 (1,607) (139) 

NOTE 7: FINANCE COSTS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Interest on lease liabilities (refer to Note 20) (19) (13) 
Unwinding of discount rate on provisions (refer to Note 22) (154) (48) 
Borrowing costs written off (refer to Note 15)  (1,784) - 
Interest expense on borrowings (refer to Note 21) (317) - 
Other finance costs (35) - 

 (2,309) (61) 

NOTE 8: INCOME TAX 

a) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expenses to prima facie tax payable 
 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Loss before income tax expense (14,706) (13,429) 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2021: 30%) (4,412) (4,029) 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in 
calculating taxable income:   
- Share-based payment 699 273 
- Non-deductible expenses 19 126 
- Non-taxable income - (11) 
- Immediately deductible expense (453) (315) 
Non-recognition of deferred tax assets 4,147 3,956 

Income tax benefit - - 

The tax rate of 30% represents the rate at which the Company expects to utilise the tax losses. The Group has 
calculated tax losses of $179,810,000 (2021: $126,745,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future 
taxable profits of the companies within the tax consolidated group. 
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b) Franking credits 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on 
a tax rate of 30% (2021: 30%) 64,604 64,604 

The amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the reporting date, adjusted for franking credits 
that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent financial years. 

c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Deferred tax liabilities   
Inventories (100) - 
Exploration and evaluation assets (333) (770) 
Property, plant and equipment (17,023) (3,180) 
Other (29) (6) 
Total deferred tax liabilities (17,485) (3,956) 

Deferred tax assets   
Tax losses 53,943 38,023 
Derivative financial instruments 375 - 
Employee benefits 446 257 
Leases 36 90 
Rehabilitation 2,751 2,069 
Other 1,150 404 
Total deferred tax assets 58,701 40,843 

Deferred tax asset recognised in equity   
Cash flow hedge 16,019 4,299 
Blackhole expenditure 935 935 
Total deferred tax asset recognised in equity 16,954 5,234 

Non-recognition of tax assets (58,170) (42,121) 
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) - - 

d) Recognition and measurement 
The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income based on 
the tax rate, which is adjusted by deferred tax expense which reflects the changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.  

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

i) Current income tax 
The current income tax expense is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end 
of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Current tax liabilities (assets) are 
therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority. 
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b) Franking credits 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on 
a tax rate of 30% (2021: 30%) 64,604 64,604 

The amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the reporting date, adjusted for franking credits 
that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent financial years. 

c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
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Deferred tax liabilities   
Inventories (100) - 
Exploration and evaluation assets (333) (770) 
Property, plant and equipment (17,023) (3,180) 
Other (29) (6) 
Total deferred tax liabilities (17,485) (3,956) 

Deferred tax assets   
Tax losses 53,943 38,023 
Derivative financial instruments 375 - 
Employee benefits 446 257 
Leases 36 90 
Rehabilitation 2,751 2,069 
Other 1,150 404 
Total deferred tax assets 58,701 40,843 

Deferred tax asset recognised in equity   
Cash flow hedge 16,019 4,299 
Blackhole expenditure 935 935 
Total deferred tax asset recognised in equity 16,954 5,234 

Non-recognition of tax assets (58,170) (42,121) 
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) - - 

d) Recognition and measurement 
The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income based on 
the tax rate, which is adjusted by deferred tax expense which reflects the changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.  

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

i) Current income tax 
The current income tax expense is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end 
of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Current tax liabilities (assets) are 
therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority. 
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ii) Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, 
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss.  

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the 
end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

iii) Tax Consolidation 
Mincor and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed an income tax consolidated group under 
the tax consolidation legislation. The head entity, Mincor and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group 
account for their own current and deferred tax amounts, as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues 
to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 

Mincor recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses 
and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate Mincor for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Mincor for any current tax 
receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to 
Mincor. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned 
entities’ financial statements. 

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as 
current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the group. Any difference between the amounts 
assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a contribution 
to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities. 

e) Key estimates and judgements 

Management has assessed the probability that sufficient future taxable income (including the reversal of taxable 
temporary differences) will be generated to utilise the carried forward tax losses. Given the significant tax losses 
available for use and various tax legislation the Federal Government has introduced to accelerate capital allowances, 
Management has concluded that recognition of deferred tax assets is not appropriate at 30 June 2022 and has not 
recognised deferred tax assets of $58,170,000 (2021: $42,121,000). A reassessment will be performed when 
development at all mine sites are completed. 
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NOTE 9: LOSS PER SHARE 
 2022 2021 

Loss for the year ($’000) (14,706) (13,429) 
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company ($’000) (14,706) (13,429) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominated 
in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 474,351,095 429,221,819 

Loss per share (cents) (3.1) (3.1) 
Diluted loss per share (cents) (3.1) (3.1) 

The Performance Rights and Options with the potential to be converted to ordinary shares are not included in the 
calculation of diluted loss per share as they are antidilutive.  

NOTE 10: CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 78,636 58,634 
Restricted cash 424 295 
 79,060 58,929 

a) Reconciliation of net cash outflow from operating activities to loss before income tax 
 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Loss for the year (14,706) (13,429) 

Add/(less): non-cash items   
Depreciation and amortisation  2,861 336 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets 3,955 - 
Loss from financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss 1,607 139 
Gain on disposal of exploration and evaluation assets (3,082) (1,223) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (278) (75) 
Adjustments to rehabilitation provision 857 423 
Share-based payments  2,328 910 
Finance costs  2,309 - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities   
Increase in trade and other receivables, including associated derivatives (6,588) (582) 
Decrease in other current assets - 650 
Increase in inventories (1,467) - 
Increase in operating creditors and accruals 5,700 589 
Increase in employee entitlement provisions 620 61 
Net cash outflow from operating activities (5,884) (12,201) 

b) Recognition and measurement 
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
deposits at call with financial institutions, term deposits, short-term bank bills, and cash at bank and in transit, all of 
which are used in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Restricted cash represents cash deposits held as security against the Group’s bond and credit card facility. 

c) Non-cash investing and financing activities 
Non-cash investing and financing activities disclosed in other notes are:  

• Note 13 non-cash consideration received for sale of exploration and evaluation asset; and  
• Note 28 options and performance rights issued to employees for no cash consideration. 
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NOTE 9: LOSS PER SHARE 
 2022 2021 

Loss for the year ($’000) (14,706) (13,429) 
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company ($’000) (14,706) (13,429) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominated 
in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 474,351,095 429,221,819 

Loss per share (cents) (3.1) (3.1) 
Diluted loss per share (cents) (3.1) (3.1) 

The Performance Rights and Options with the potential to be converted to ordinary shares are not included in the 
calculation of diluted loss per share as they are antidilutive.  

NOTE 10: CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 78,636 58,634 
Restricted cash 424 295 
 79,060 58,929 

a) Reconciliation of net cash outflow from operating activities to loss before income tax 
 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Loss for the year (14,706) (13,429) 

Add/(less): non-cash items   
Depreciation and amortisation  2,861 336 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets 3,955 - 
Loss from financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss 1,607 139 
Gain on disposal of exploration and evaluation assets (3,082) (1,223) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (278) (75) 
Adjustments to rehabilitation provision 857 423 
Share-based payments  2,328 910 
Finance costs  2,309 - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities   
Increase in trade and other receivables, including associated derivatives (6,588) (582) 
Decrease in other current assets - 650 
Increase in inventories (1,467) - 
Increase in operating creditors and accruals 5,700 589 
Increase in employee entitlement provisions 620 61 
Net cash outflow from operating activities (5,884) (12,201) 

b) Recognition and measurement 
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
deposits at call with financial institutions, term deposits, short-term bank bills, and cash at bank and in transit, all of 
which are used in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Restricted cash represents cash deposits held as security against the Group’s bond and credit card facility. 

c) Non-cash investing and financing activities 
Non-cash investing and financing activities disclosed in other notes are:  

• Note 13 non-cash consideration received for sale of exploration and evaluation asset; and  
• Note 28 options and performance rights issued to employees for no cash consideration. 
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NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Trade receivables (subject to provisional pricing) – fair value 2,175 - 
Other receivables 21 659 

 2,196 659 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are measured at fair value less any allowance for expected credit 
losses. Trade receivables represent amounts due from BHP under the OTCPA. Amounts are settled by the payment 
of a provisional invoice, and a final invoice settled generally two months from ore delivery. During the period of 
delivery, when revenue is recognised, until the final invoice is issued, trade receivables are revalued using forward 
prices for nickel, copper and cobalt with changes in fair value recognised as outlined in Note 4.  

The Group measures impairment of trade and other receivables using the simplified approach to measuring 
expected credit losses (“ECL”). Given the Group’s historical credit loss experience with its customer the risk of default 
is considered to be negligible and no allowance for ECL has been recognised as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: Nil). 
Refer to Note 26 for further information on the Group’s accounting policy on the impairment of financial assets. 

b) Key estimates and judgements 

Trade receivables are remeasured with reference to the prevailing forward metal price on the relevant metal 
exchange which reflects an estimate of the final price. Refer to Note 4 for further information. 

NOTE 12: INVENTORIES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Consumables 207 177 
Ore Stockpiles 1,437 - 

 1,644 177 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Inventories including ore stockpiles, work in progress and finished goods are recognised and valued at the lower of 
cost or net realisable value (“NRV”). NRV is the estimated future selling price, less the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale. NRV assessments are undertaken at each reporting date. Cost represents direct costs and an 
appropriate portion of fixed overhead costs and includes a portion of depreciation and amortisation.  

b) Key estimates and judgements 

Ore stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, the 
amount of contained metal based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage based on the expected 
processing method. Prior to the mine production start date at a mine, a portion of mining and fixed overhead costs 
is allocated to the production of ore stockpiles, in line with the early adoption of AASB 2020-3 Amendments to AASB 
116 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use. 

NOTE 13: INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Opening balance  526 - 
Acquisition  3,082 550 
Loss from revaluation of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss   (1,597) (24) 

Balance at end of year 2,011 526 
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Equity instruments relate to the Company’s share and option holdings in Auric Mining Limited and Locksley Resources 
Limited (“Locksley”).  

Shares and options in Locksley were received as non-cash consideration for the sale of the Tottenham project during the 
period, resulting in a gain on sale of exploration and evaluation assets totalling $3,082,000. These instruments were 
issued as part of an Initial Public Offering completed in July 2021 and are subject to an escrow period until July 2023. 

The equity instruments are recognised as financial assets measured fair value through profit or loss. Refer to Note 26 for 
accounting policy on the classification and measurement of equity instruments. 

a) Key estimates and judgements 

At 30 June 2022, the Group holds 25.9% of Locksley (30 June 2021: Nil). Pursuant to AASB 128 Investment in Associates 
and Joint Venture, the Group is presumed to have significant influence if holds more than 20% of an investee. The 
Group has determined it does not have significant influence over Locksley as it does not have representation on 
the board nor participate in any of its financial and operating activities. As a result, the Group recognises the equity 
instruments as investments at fair value. 

NOTE 14: ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Property, plant and equipment held for sale   
Cost - 388 
Accumulated depreciation - (187) 
 - 201 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as current assets and measured at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  

NOTE 15: OTHER ASSETS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Current   
Prepayments  1,007 777 

Non-current   
Prepaid transaction costs associated with debt facility  - 2,366 

a) Key estimates and judgements 

As a result of the replacement of the $55 million Syndicated Project Finance Facility (“SPFF”) with the $30 million 
Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”), refer to Note 21, prepaid transaction costs totalling $1,784,000 have been written 
off during the year. The remaining balance was transferred to borrowings as part of the carrying value. 
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2021 
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Cost - 388 
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 - 201 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as current assets and measured at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  

NOTE 15: OTHER ASSETS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Current   
Prepayments  1,007 777 

Non-current   
Prepaid transaction costs associated with debt facility  - 2,366 

a) Key estimates and judgements 

As a result of the replacement of the $55 million Syndicated Project Finance Facility (“SPFF”) with the $30 million 
Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”), refer to Note 21, prepaid transaction costs totalling $1,784,000 have been written 
off during the year. The remaining balance was transferred to borrowings as part of the carrying value. 
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NOTE 16: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 15,309 7,310 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets   
Opening balance at the beginning of year 2,577 19,866 
Impairment of area of interest where no further work is being undertaken (1,458) - 
Current year expenditure capitalised - 586 
Adjustment to rehabilitation provision  - 27 
Acquisition of additional interest in exploration phase project  - 204 
Transfer to mine properties and development  - (18,079) 
Disposal of gold tenement   (27) 

Total Exploration and Evaluation Asset 1,119 2,577 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Exploration and evaluation activities involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical 
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource in an individual geological area (“area 
of interest”).  

Exploration and evaluation activities include:  

• Researching and analysing historical exploration data; 
• Gathering exploration data through geophysical studies; 
• Exploratory drilling and sampling;  
• Determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource;  
• Surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements; and  
• Conducting mining and evaluation studies. 

All exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred up to completion of a Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) is 
expensed as incurred. These costs include directly attributable employee remuneration, materials used, surveying 
costs, drilling costs and payments made to contractors.  

When it has determined with a high degree of confidence that it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the Group, such as completion of a positive DFS, exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised and carried 
forward in the consolidated financial statements, in respect of areas of interest for which the rights of tenure are 
current. 

Identifiable exploration assets acquired, including mineral rights, are capitalised at their cost of acquisition. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest 
are demonstrable and an investment decision has been made by the Board, exploration and evaluation assets 
attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and then transferred to mine properties and 
development.  

b) Impairment 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest, as well as to determine if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

In the event that an area of interest is abandoned or, if facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 
of an exploration and evaluation asset is impaired, then the accumulated costs carried forward are written off in the 
year in which the assessment is made. 
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c) Key estimates and judgements 

The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective area of interest. The Group reviews 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation expenditure on a regular basis to determine whether economic 
quantities of reserves have been found or whether further exploration and evaluation work is underway or planned 
to support continued carrying forward of capitalised costs. This assessment requires judgement as to the status of 
the individual projects and their estimated recoverable amounts.  

During the year, $1,458,000 (30 June 2021: Nil) was written-off in relation to an area of interest where further 
exploration activities are not planned. 

During the prior year, the Board of Directors made a final investment decision to recommence nickel operations in 
Kambalda. As a result of this decision and in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, exploration and 
evaluation assets for KNO were assessed for impairment prior to transferring to mine properties and development. 
The recoverable amount of KNO was in excess of the carrying value at the date of assessment and accordingly, the 
total exploration and evaluation assets attributable to KNO were transferred to mine properties and development.  

NOTE 17: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

CONSOLIDATED 

Mine 
properties 

and 
development 

$’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000 

Right-of-use 
assets 
$’000 

Capital 
work-in- 

progress 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

At 30 June 2020      

Cost or valuation 166 4,867 275 1,921 7,229 

Accumulated depreciation - (844) (71) - (915) 

Net book amount 166 4,023 204 1,921 6,314 

Year ended 30 June 2021      

Opening net book amount 166 4,023 204 1,921 6,314 

Transfer from exploration and 
evaluation asset (refer to Note 16) 18,079 - - - 18,079 

Additions 31,377 2,965 152 2,703 37,197 

Adjustment to rehabilitation provision 
(refer to Note 22) (454) - - - (454) 

Transfer to assets held for sale 
(refer to Note 14) - (201) - - (201) 

Transfers 2,257 (283) - (1,974) - 

Depreciation/amortisation charge - (594) (111) - (705) 

Closing net book amount 51,425 5,910 245 2,650 60,230 

At 30 June 2021      

Cost or valuation 51,425 7,348 427 2,650 61,850 

Accumulated depreciation - (1,438) (182) - (1,620) 

Net book amount 51,425 5,910 245 2,650 60,230 

Mincor Resources NL  |   Annual  Report  202260



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

KEY NUMBERS 

c) Key estimates and judgements 
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and 
development 
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Transfer from exploration and 
evaluation asset (refer to Note 16) 18,079 - - - 18,079 

Additions 31,377 2,965 152 2,703 37,197 

Adjustment to rehabilitation provision 
(refer to Note 22) (454) - - - (454) 

Transfer to assets held for sale 
(refer to Note 14) - (201) - - (201) 

Transfers 2,257 (283) - (1,974) - 

Depreciation/amortisation charge - (594) (111) - (705) 

Closing net book amount 51,425 5,910 245 2,650 60,230 
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CONSOLIDATED 

Mine 
properties 

and 
development 

$’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000 

Right-of-use 
assets 
$’000 

Capital 
work-in- 

progress 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2022      

Opening net book amount 51,425 5,910 245 2,650 60,230 

Additions 67,393 1,625 - 7,978 76,996 

Borrowing costs capitalised 
(refer to Note 21) 905 - - - 905 

Adjustment to rehabilitation provision 
(refer to Note 22) 1,262 - - - 1,262 

Transfers 94 2,574 - (2,668) - 

Disposals - (18) - - (18) 

Impairment - (2,497) - - (2,497) 

Depreciation/amortisation charge (2,542) (1,522) (137) - (4,201) 

Closing net book amount 118,537 6,072 108 7,960 132,677 

At 30 June 2022      
Cost or valuation 121,080 8,791 427 7,960 138,258 

Accumulated depreciation (2,543) (2,719) (319) - (5,581) 

Net book amount 118,537 6,072 108 7,960 132,677 

a) Recognition and measurement 

i) Costs 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. When parts of an 
item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as a separate item of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Subsequent costs incurred on an item of property, plant and equipment are capitalised, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are 
included in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

ii) Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

iii) Right-of-use assets 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They 
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. 

The Group leases several assets including the corporate office, plant and IT equipment. The average lease terms 
are 3–5 years. Refer to Note 20 for the details on the corresponding lease liabilities. 
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iv) Mine properties and development 

  Pre-production activities 

Mine properties represent acquired mining land and the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and 
development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group in relation to areas of interest in which mining 
of a mineral resource has commenced. Once technical feasibility and commercial viability of an area of interest 
are demonstrable, and a development decision has been made by the Board, any exploration and evaluation 
expenditure capitalised is transferred to mine properties. 

All expenditure incurred prior to the commencement of commercial levels of production from each development 
area, is carried forward to the extent to which recoupment out of revenue to be derived from the sale of production 
from the relevant development area, or the sale of the area, is reasonably assured. 

  Post-production activities 

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mine property after the commencement of 
commercial production, such expenditure is carried forward as part of the mine development only when it is 
probable that the associated future economic benefits will flow to the Group, otherwise such expenditure is 
classified as part of the cost of production and expensed as incurred.  

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine are assessed to determine whether the benefit 
accruing from that activity provides access to ore that can be used to produce inventory or whether it improves 
access to ore that will be mined in future periods.  

In March 2022, production start date was achieved at Durkin North, refer to section d) below on key estimates 
and judgements.  

v) Mine rehabilitation assets  
Under AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment, the cost of an asset includes any estimated costs of dismantling 
and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located. The capitalised rehabilitation and mine 
closure costs are depreciated (along with the other costs included in the asset) over the asset’s useful life. Refer 
to Note 22 for the accounting policy on rehabilitation and mine closure costs provision. 

b) Depreciation 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. The 
depreciation of mine properties and development commences when the mine is commissioned or deemed ready 
for use. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each 
reporting period and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Where depreciation rates have changed, the net written 
down value of the asset is depreciated from the date of the change in accordance with the new depreciation rate, 
with the change accounted for prospectively. 

Depreciation methods and useful lives adopted are as follows: 
 

Category Depreciation method and useful life 

Mine properties and development 

Freehold land Not depreciated 

Mine properties and development Units of production over the relevant economically recoverable mineral reserve 

Mine buildings Unit of production, reducing balance or straight line over the shorter of the 
applicable mine life and five years, depending on the nature of asset 

Property, plant and equipment 

Machinery and equipment Unit of production, reducing balance or straight line over the shorter of the 
applicable mine life and two to ten years, depending on the nature of asset 

Office plant and equipment Reducing balance or straight line over two to five years, depending on the 
nature of asset 

Office furniture and fittings Reducing balance or straight line over three to ten years, depending on the 
nature of asset 
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. The 
depreciation of mine properties and development commences when the mine is commissioned or deemed ready 
for use. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each 
reporting period and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Where depreciation rates have changed, the net written 
down value of the asset is depreciated from the date of the change in accordance with the new depreciation rate, 
with the change accounted for prospectively. 

Depreciation methods and useful lives adopted are as follows: 
 

Category Depreciation method and useful life 

Mine properties and development 

Freehold land Not depreciated 

Mine properties and development Units of production over the relevant economically recoverable mineral reserve 
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Office furniture and fittings Reducing balance or straight line over three to ten years, depending on the 
nature of asset 
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Category Depreciation method and useful life 

Other assets 

Right-of-use of assets Unit of production or straight line over the shorter of the applicable mine life 
and lease contract, depending on the nature of assets 

c) Impairment 
A review is undertaken at each reporting date to determine if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable 
amount is made. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or a cash generating 
unit (“CGU”) exceeds the recoverable amount. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or CGUs.  

The impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Previously impaired assets are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.  

d) Key estimates and judgements 

i) Mine production start date 

The Group assesses the stage of a mine under development to determine when it moves into the commercial 
production phase, this being when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The criteria 
used to determine the production start date are based on the unique nature of each mine development project. 
Some of the criteria the Group uses to identify production start date include, but are not limited to: 

• Level of capital expenditure incurred compared with the original construction cost estimate; 

• Majority of the assets making up the mining project are substantially complete and ready for use; 

• A specified percentage of design capacity for the mine has been achieved; 

• The percentage grade (metal content) of ore being mined is sufficiently economic and consistent with the 
overall mine plan; 

• Ability to produce metal in saleable form (within specifications); and 

• Ability to sustain ongoing production of metal. 

When a mine site moves into the production phase, the capitalisation of certain mine development costs ceases 
and costs are either regarded as forming part of the cost of inventory or expensed, except for costs that qualify 
for capitalisation relating to mining asset additions or improvements, underground mine development or 
mineable reserve development. It is also at this point that depreciation/amortisation commences. 

With the mine sites reaching first ore during the financial year, an assessment has been completed for each 
mine site to determine whether the production milestone has been achieved. Management has determined that 
Durkin North has reached the production phase in March 2022.  

ii) Impairment  

At 30 June 2022, the Group has determined there are no indicators of impairment in relation to the carrying 
value of the KNO CGU. This assessment takes into consideration the generation of first revenue from KNO in 
May 2022, the announcement of a new Mineral Resource LN04a at Northern Operations subsequent to year-
end and the continued strong demand for nickel with limited supply, which supports an upward trajectory of the 
nickel price. 

Changes in reported Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimates can impact the carrying value of property, 
plant and equipment.  

Other property, plant and equipment, which was included in the acquisition of Mincor Long Pty Ltd and which 
has a carrying value of $2,497,000, is not included in the mine plan and consequently is not expected to be used 
and therefore has been fully impaired. 
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NOTE 18: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Derivative financial assets   
Nickel swaps at fair value through profit or loss   
Current  4,821 - 
 4,821 - 

Derivative financial liabilities   
Nickel swaps designated as cash flow hedges    
Current  41,251 --  
Non-current 12,147 14,330 
 53,398 14,330 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value. The method of recognising the gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

The Group designates certain derivatives as either:  

• hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges); or 

• hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable 
forecast transactions (cash flow hedges). 

Derivatives that are not designated as hedges are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group documents at the inception of a transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that 
are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value 
or cash flows of hedged items. 

i) Cash flow hedges 
Cash flow hedges are used to cover the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to 
particular risks associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment which could affect profit or 
loss. When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of the gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income through the cash flow hedges reserve 
in equity, whilst the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.  

Amounts taken to equity are transferred out of equity and included in the measurement of the hedged 
transaction when the forecast transaction occurs. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the nickel 
swap is recognised in profit or loss within ‘sales revenue’. 

Cash flow hedges are tested prospectively for effectiveness on a regular basis to ensure that each hedge is highly 
effective and continues to be designated as a cash flow hedge. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the amounts recognised in equity are transferred to profit or loss. 

The main sources of hedge ineffectiveness in these hedge relationships are: 

• the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the option contracts, which 
is not reflected in the fair value of the hedged item;  

• if the forecast transaction will happen earlier or later than originally expected; or 

• if the volume of the forecast transaction changes. 
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NOTE 18: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
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Nickel swaps designated as cash flow hedges    
Current  41,251 --  
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a) Recognition and measurement 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value. The method of recognising the gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

The Group designates certain derivatives as either:  

• hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges); or 
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Derivatives that are not designated as hedges are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Group documents at the inception of a transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that 
are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value 
or cash flows of hedged items. 

i) Cash flow hedges 
Cash flow hedges are used to cover the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to 
particular risks associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment which could affect profit or 
loss. When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of the gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income through the cash flow hedges reserve 
in equity, whilst the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.  

Amounts taken to equity are transferred out of equity and included in the measurement of the hedged 
transaction when the forecast transaction occurs. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the nickel 
swap is recognised in profit or loss within ‘sales revenue’. 

Cash flow hedges are tested prospectively for effectiveness on a regular basis to ensure that each hedge is highly 
effective and continues to be designated as a cash flow hedge. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the amounts recognised in equity are transferred to profit or loss. 

The main sources of hedge ineffectiveness in these hedge relationships are: 

• the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the option contracts, which 
is not reflected in the fair value of the hedged item;  

• if the forecast transaction will happen earlier or later than originally expected; or 

• if the volume of the forecast transaction changes. 
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b) Nickel swaps designated as cash flow hedges 
The Company has a mandatory hedging program with BNP Paribas maturing between September 2022 to February 
2024. These hedging arrangements have been designated as cash flow hedges of highly probable nickel sales. 
Details of the arrangement are as follows: 

 

 

Hedged nickel 
concentrate Average price 

Carrying value 
recognised as 

derivative financial 
liabilities 

Change in value of 
hedging instrument 

recognised in 
comprehensive income 

Tonnes A$/t A$’000 A$’000 

Floating-for-fixed Australian 
dollar nickel swaps 4,666 21,000–22,000 53,398 39,068 

c) Nickel swaps at fair value through profit or loss 
The Company has entered into discretionary hedges to manage its exposure to movements in nickel prices during 
the quotation period (QP hedge). At 30 June 2022, 762 nickel concentrate tonnes were hedged at an average price 
of A$39,137/t for cash settlement in August 2022. 

NOTE 19: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Current   
Trade payables 5,204 776 
Other creditors and accruals 15,178 6,814 

 20,382 7,590 
Non-current   
Other payables 2,018 278 

 22,400 7,868 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade 
and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting 
date. Refer to Note 26 for accounting policy on the classification and measurement of trade and other payables.  

NOTE 20: LEASE LIABILITIES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Current 64 191 
Non-current 57 110 

 121 301 

a) Maturity analysis 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Within one year 71 198 
Later than one year and not later than three years 52 108 
 123 306 

Less: unearned finance cost (2) (5) 
 121 301 
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b) Recognition and measurement 
The Group, as a lessee will assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease under AASB 16. A contract is, or contains 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

If the contract is assessed to be, or contains a lease, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
at the lease commencement date.  

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as 
the discount rate.  

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability, offset by lease payments made. 
It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a change 
in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes 
in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination 
option is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

Recognition exemption – Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases with lease term 
of 12 months or less and leases for low-value assets. The Group will recognise the payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

c) Variable lease payments 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Variable lease payments  47,504 22,229 

Payments made and accrued during the financial year recognised as leases but are variable in nature are not 
included in the minimum lease payments used to calculate lease liabilities. These payments relate to the Group’s 
mining contract at the Cassini Operation and Northern Operations.   

d) Amounts recognised in profit or loss  
Amount recognised in profit or loss arising from leases:  
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Depreciation on right-of-use assets 137 111 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 19 13 

e) Key estimates and judgements 

On commencement of the mining contract in November 2020, the Group completed an assessment under AASB 16 
Leases which concluded that the mining contract contained a lease on the mining equipment required to deliver the 
mining services. However, the lease payments are considered 100% variable as they are based on delivery of 
physicals, such as metres advanced and volumes moved. Consequently, a lease liability in relation to the mining 
contract has not been recognised.  
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Amount recognised in profit or loss arising from leases:  
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Depreciation on right-of-use assets 137 111 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 19 13 

e) Key estimates and judgements 

On commencement of the mining contract in November 2020, the Group completed an assessment under AASB 16 
Leases which concluded that the mining contract contained a lease on the mining equipment required to deliver the 
mining services. However, the lease payments are considered 100% variable as they are based on delivery of 
physicals, such as metres advanced and volumes moved. Consequently, a lease liability in relation to the mining 
contract has not been recognised.  
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NOTE 21: BORROWINGS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Current  14,318 - 
Non-current 14,919 - 
 29,237 - 

Movement analysis    
Drawdown on revolving credit facility 30,000 - 
Costs associated with borrowing facilities (1,261) - 
Interest expense  317 - 
Interest expense capitalised to mine development (refer to Note 17) 905 - 
Interest payments (724) - 
 29,237 - 

a) Revolving credit facility 
On 9 September 2021, the $55 million Syndicated Project Finance Facility (“SPFF”), was replaced with a $30 million 
Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”) finance by BNP Paribas. At 30 June 2022, the RCF was fully drawn. The interest rate 
on the facility is BBSY plus a margin of 360 basis points with interest payable quarterly. The facility will be reduced 
quarterly commencing from 31 December 2022 to 30 September 2023. The term may be extended for two further 
1-year periods at each annual review date. Security for the facility is given over all the assets of the Project 
companies, being Mincor Resources NL, Goldfields Mine Management Pty Ltd (“GMM”), Mincor Operations Pty Ltd 
and Mincor Long Pty Ltd “(Long”), including a share mortgage over all the shares in GMM and Long. 

b) Recognition and measurement 
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All 
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

The effective interest rate applied to the facility is 6.75%, 

NOTE 22: PROVISIONS 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Current   
Employee benefits  1,288 762 
Other provisions 429 429 
 1,717 1,191 
Non-Current   
Employee benefits  200 95 
Rehabilitation and Mine Closure Costs 13,668 11,395 
 13,868 11,490 
Rehabilitation and Mine Closure Costs   
Balance at beginning of year 11,395 11,114 
Unwinding of discount rate 154 48 
Adjustments to provision estimates   
- Recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss 857 452 
- Recognised as adjustment to Exploration and Evaluation Assets  - 27 
- Recognised as adjustment to Property, Plant and Equipment (refer to Note 17) 1,262 (454) 
- Acquisition of additional interest in exploration phase project  - 208 
Balance at end of year 13,668 11,395 
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a) Recognition and measurement 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

i) Rehabilitation and Mine Closure Costs 
The Group has obligations to dismantle, remove, restore and rehabilitate certain items of property, plant and 
equipment and areas of disturbance during mining operations and exploration activities. The provision is based 
on estimated costs to rehabilitate areas disturbed up to the reporting date but not yet rehabilitated and 
discounted to their present value based on expected future cash flows. The provision includes contractors’ 
demobilisation costs. 

When the provision is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the 
carrying amount of the related mining or exploration and evaluation assets and is amortised on a unit-of-
production basis. The unwinding effect of discounting the provision is recorded as a finance cost in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

Changes in rehabilitation costs, including changes in discount rates and timing or amounts of cash flows, will be 
recognised as changes to the corresponding asset and rehabilitation liability. 

Changes to estimates that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations, and do not have future 
economic benefits, are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

ii) Employee Benefits – Short Term 
Liabilities for salaries, wages and leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service are recognised and are measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The leave liability is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All 
other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as other payables. 

iii) Employee Benefits – Long Term 
This comprises the liability for long service leave and annual leave that are not expected to be settled within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related service. They are 
therefore recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, estimates of employee departures and periods 
of service.  

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if the Group 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, 
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 

b) Key estimates and judgements 

The value of the rehabilitation provision is based on a number of assumptions with significant judgement including 
the nature of rehabilitation activities required, estimates of the cost of performing the work, changes in legislation, 
changes in technology, the timing of future cash flows and the appropriate risk-free discount rate. A change in any, 
or a combination, of these assumptions used to determine current provisions could have a material impact to the 
provision.  

At each reporting date, the rehabilitation and mine closure cost provision is remeasured to reflect any changes in 
discount rates and timing or amounts of costs to be incurred. Such changes in the estimated liability are accounted 
for prospectively from the date of the change and added to, or deducted from, the related asset, subject to 
recoverability. 
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This comprises the liability for long service leave and annual leave that are not expected to be settled within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related service. They are 
therefore recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
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of service.  

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if the Group 
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The value of the rehabilitation provision is based on a number of assumptions with significant judgement including 
the nature of rehabilitation activities required, estimates of the cost of performing the work, changes in legislation, 
changes in technology, the timing of future cash flows and the appropriate risk-free discount rate. A change in any, 
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NOTE 23: OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 

$’000 

Contingent consideration 1,855 1,845 

a) Recognition and measurement 
Any contingent consideration arising from an acquisition that does not constitute a business combination is 
recognised as a financial liability at fair value at the acquisition date. Refer to Note 26 for accounting policy on the 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 

b) Key estimates and judgements 

In May 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Mincor Long Pty Ltd (formerly, 
Independence Long Pty Ltd). The consideration included: 

• $2,000,000 payable on production of 2,500 tonnes of contained nickel in ore from the Long Nickel Operations, 
payable in either cash or Mincor shares, at the Company’s discretion; and  

• $4,000,000 payable on production of 7,500 tonnes of contained nickel in ore from the Long Nickel Operations, 
payable in either cash or Mincor shares, at the Company’s discretion. 

At 30 June 2022, the contingent consideration was revalued resulting in a $10,000 (30 June 2021: $115,000) fair 
value loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

NOTE 24: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

a) Issued and paid-up capital 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

484,367,097 (2021: 432,367,093) fully paid ordinary shares  218,348 154,337 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

Every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll 
each share is entitled to one vote. 

Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

b) Movements in ordinary share capital 
 No. of shares Issue price $’000 
2021    
Opening balance 346,007,212  95,340 

Capital raising placement, for cash 69,444,445 $0.72 50,000 

Share purchase plan  14,380,578 $0.72 10,354 
Share issue costs - - (2,044) 

Shares issued from exercise of options 20,000 $0.50 10 
Transfer between reserves arising from exercised Options 
(refer to Note 28) 

2,514,858 - 677 

Closing balance 432,367,093  154,337 
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 No. of shares Issue price $’000 

2022    
Opening balance 432,367,093  154,337 

Capital raising placement, for cash 46,875,000 $1.28 60,000 
Share purchase plan  4,906,540 $1.28 6,281 

Share issue costs - - (2,313) 
Transfer between reserves arising from exercised 
Performance Rights (refer to Note 28) 

218,464 - 43 

Closing balance 484,367,097  218,348 

c) Options and performance rights 
Information relating to Options and Performance Rights, including details of instruments issued, exercised and lapsed 
during the financial year and outstanding at the end of the reporting period, is set out in Note 28. 

d) Recognition and measurement 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or Options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.  

e) Dividends 
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, determined or publicly recommended by the Directors 
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period. 

NOTE 25: RESERVES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Share-based payment Reserve 3,495 1,430 
Cash flow hedge Reserve (53,398) (14,330)  
 (49,903) (12,900) 

a) Share-based payment reserve 
The share-based payment Reserve represents the cumulative expense of outstanding Options and Performance 
Rights granted under the Mincor Employee Equity Incentive Plan. After vesting date, the cumulative expense is 
transferred to retained earnings (accumulated loss) if the options or performance rights lapse, or to share capital if 
the instruments are exercised. 

b) Cash flow hedge reserve 
The cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed 
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit 
or loss only when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is included directly in the initial cost or other 
carrying amount of the hedged non-financial items. Refer to Note 18 for further details.  
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d) Recognition and measurement 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or Options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.  

e) Dividends 
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, determined or publicly recommended by the Directors 
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period. 

NOTE 25: RESERVES 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Share-based payment Reserve 3,495 1,430 
Cash flow hedge Reserve (53,398) (14,330)  
 (49,903) (12,900) 

a) Share-based payment reserve 
The share-based payment Reserve represents the cumulative expense of outstanding Options and Performance 
Rights granted under the Mincor Employee Equity Incentive Plan. After vesting date, the cumulative expense is 
transferred to retained earnings (accumulated loss) if the options or performance rights lapse, or to share capital if 
the instruments are exercised. 

b) Cash flow hedge reserve 
The cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed 
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit 
or loss only when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is included directly in the initial cost or other 
carrying amount of the hedged non-financial items. Refer to Note 18 for further details.  
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
This note focuses on the financial instruments held by the Group and the Group’s Financial Risk Management policy. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The Group holds the following financial assets and liabilities: 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 78,636 58,634 
Restricted cash 424 295 
Trade and other receivables 2,196 659 
Derivative financial instruments 4,821 - 
Investments at fair value 2,011 526  

 88,088 60,114 

Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables 22,400 7,868 
Borrowings  29,237 - 
Derivative financial instruments 53,398 14,330 
Financial liability 1,855 1,845 

 106,890 24,043 

a) Recognition and measurement 
At initial recognition, the Group assesses the classification of its financial assets, which determines the subsequent 
measurement of the financial asset. Classification depends on the business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

Financial instruments, which includes financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments, are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit 
or loss’ in which case transaction costs are expensed immediately.  

b) Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial instruments other than hedging instruments, are measured at:  

• amortised cost, such as trade payables, and borrowings, or 
• fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

Any contingent consideration arising from an asset acquisition is classified as a financial liability measured at fair 
value, with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

c) Impairment 
Financial assets are accounted for impairment using the forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach. ECLs 
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. For trade and other receivables, the Group has applied the standard’s 
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Group has not 
recognised a loss allowance at 30 June 2022 as given the historical credit loss experience with its customer, the risk 
of default is considered negligible.  

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan 
with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments.  

Mincor Resources NL  |   Annual  Report  2022 71



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

d) Fair value measurement and estimation 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 

In accordance to AASB 7 Financial Instruments Disclosure, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices), and 

• Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial 
liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used): 

Financial asset/liability Fair value 
hierarchy Valuation technique  Significant input(s) 

Investments – shares Level 2 Quoted bid prices in an active market Not applicable 

Investments – options Level 3 Black-Scholes model  The following variables were taken 
into consideration: options strike 
price, time until expiration 
(expressed as a per cent of a year), 
implied volatility of the underlying 
instrument, as well as the risk-free 
interest rate 

Trade Receivables Level 2 Nickel, copper and cobalt forward 
prices quoted on the London Metals 
Exchange  

Not applicable 

Derivative financial 
instruments 

Level 2 Discounted cash flow Future cash flows are estimated 
based on forward commodity prices 
(from observable forward rates at the 
end of the reporting period) and 
discounted at a rate that reflects the 
credit risk of various counterparties 

Other financial liabilities Level 3 Discounted cash flow Future cash flows are estimated 
based on budgeted production 
profiles and a discount rate reflected 
of the weighted cost of capital 

There have been no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.  

RISK MANAGEMENT 

a) Financial risk management 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, price risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance 
of the Group.  

Financial risk management is carried out by senior management and is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. 
Senior management continuously monitor forecast and actual cash flows and seek Board approval for expenditure 
greater than $2,000,000. 
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Other financial liabilities Level 3 Discounted cash flow Future cash flows are estimated 
based on budgeted production 
profiles and a discount rate reflected 
of the weighted cost of capital 

There have been no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.  

RISK MANAGEMENT 

a) Financial risk management 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, price risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance 
of the Group.  

Financial risk management is carried out by senior management and is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. 
Senior management continuously monitor forecast and actual cash flows and seek Board approval for expenditure 
greater than $2,000,000. 
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b) Market risk 

i) Commodity price risk 
The Group is exposed to movements in the prices of nickel, copper and cobalt. To limit the exposure to 
commodity price risk the Group has established mandatory hedging lines under a Master ISDA Agreement with 
BNP and has also entered into discretionary QP hedges. Refer to Note 18 for the mandatory hedging and 
discretionary hedging completed. 

Under the mandatory hedge program, floating-for-fixed nickel swaps totalling 4,666 nickel tonnes at an average 
strike price of between A$21,000/t and A$22,000/t are outstanding at 30 June 2022.  

In May and June 2022, the Group entered into discretionary QP hedges for 762 nickel tonnes at an average price 
at an average price of $39,137/t, for settlement in August 2022. The QP hedging is used to manage the risk of 
price fluctuation for the imputed nickel concentrate production already delivered and sold to BHP, where nickel 
price is yet to be finalised.  

The carrying value of the derivative financial instruments significantly changes with changes to the forward nickel 
prices. Changes to the forward nickel price, while keeping all other variables constant has the following impact: 

 

 Impact on carrying 
value of financial 
derivative asset 

increase/(decrease) 
A$’000 

Impact on carrying 
value of financial 

derivative liabilities 
increase/(decrease) 

A$’000 

Impact loss after 
tax (decrease)/ 

increase 
A$’000 

Impact on other 
comprehensive 

income 
A$’000 

5% increase in nickel 
forward curve (1,246) 7,465 1,246 (7,465) 

5% decrease in nickel 
forward curve 1,246 (7,465) (1,246) 7,465 

10% increase in nickel 
forward curve (2,492) 14,931 2,492 (14,931) 

10% decrease in nickel 
forward curve 2,492 (14,931) (2,492) 14,931 

ii) Cash flow interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from changes in market interest rates in relation to the Group’s interest-bearing 
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents. The significance and management of the risks to the Group are 
dependent on a number of factors, including: 

• interest rates; 
• level of cash, liquid investments and borrowings and the term; and 
• maturity dates of investments. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average 
interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial liabilities are set out below: 

 

 30 June 2022  30 June 2021 
Weighted average 

interest rate 
Balance 

$’000 
 Weighted average 

interest rate 
Balance 

$’000 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 0.20% 79,060 0.30% 58,929 
Revolving credit facility (secured loan) 2.44% 29,237  - - 

The risk for cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash is managed by maintaining an appropriate mix between 
short-term fixed and floating rate cash and cash equivalents. The Group manages the risk for its revolving credit 
facility by consideration of interest rate mix between fixed and variable, review of interest rate benchmarks and 
consideration of refinancing opportunities, where appropriate.  

All receivables in the current and prior financial years are non-interest bearing and therefore have no exposure 
to interest rate risk.  
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  Group sensitivity 

Based on the financial instruments at 30 June 2022, if interest rates had changed by ±150 basis points from the 
year-end rates, with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss and equity for the year would have been 
$954,000 lower/$954,000 higher (2021: at ±50, post-tax loss and equity $404,000 lower/$404,000 higher). 

iii) Equity securities price risk 
The Group is also exposed to equity securities price risk arising from investments held by the Group and 
classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets at FVTPL.  

c) Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets and is the risk that a counterparty will 
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group controls credit risk by 
setting minimum creditworthiness requirements of counterparties and transacting with high credit quality financial 
institutions. During the year, the Group maintained all cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances with 
banks and financial institutions holding an AA- rating or higher based on S&P Global ratings. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk, which also represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group does not 
hold collateral as security. 

d) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining at all times sufficient cash, liquid investments and committed 
credit facilities to meet the operating commitments of the business. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
adequate reserves, banking facilities, continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, matching the maturity 
profile of financial assets and liabilities and identifying when further capital raising initiatives are required. 

i) Financing arrangements 
The Group has access to a $30 million RCF financed by BNP Paribas. At 30 June 2022, the RCF was fully drawn 
down. Refer to Note 21 for details of the facility. In addition, the Group have access to a bond and credit card 
facility at balance date: 

 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Bond and Credit Card Facility – secured 424 295 
Revolving Credit Facility 30,000 - 
Less: Drawdown portion (30,424) (295) 
 - - 

The Bond and Credit Card Facility is denominated in Australian dollars and is secured by cash. An annual 
performance bond fee is charged at market rates. No amounts are payable under this facility, other than the 
annual fee, unless the Group does not adhere to the terms of the agreements guaranteed.  
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 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Bond and Credit Card Facility – secured 424 295 
Revolving Credit Facility 30,000 - 
Less: Drawdown portion (30,424) (295) 
 - - 
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ii) Contractual maturities of financial liabilities 

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.  
 

CONSOLIDATED 
Less than 
one year 

$’000 

Between 
one and 

five years 
$’000 

After 
five years 

$’000 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

liabilities 
$’000 

At 30 June 2022      

Trade payables 20,382 2,018 - 22,400 22,400 

Borrowings 16,018 15,166 - 31,184 29,237 

Derivative financial liabilities 42,303 13,050 - 55,353 53,398 

Other financial liabilities - 2,000 - 2,000 1,855 

Total financial liabilities 78,703 32,234 - 110,937 106,890 

At 30 June 2021      

Trade payables 7,590 278 - 7,868 7,868 

Derivative financial 
instrument - 14,781 - 14,781 14,330 

Other financial liabilities - 2,000 - 2,000 1,845 

Total financial liabilities 7,590 17,059 - 24,649 24,043 

The amounts presented represent the future undiscounted principal and interest cash flows, and reflect 
Management’s expectation of the timing of the cash flows. Actual timing may therefore differ from those 
disclosed.  

The cash flow for the derivative financial instrument is determined by reference to the nickel forward curves 
existing at reporting date and the maturity date of the cash flow hedges. 

e) Capital risk management 
The Group manages its capital to ensure entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concern whilst 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of its capital structure comprising equity, debt and 
cash. The Group reviews the capital structure on an ongoing basis. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and equity attributable to 
equity holders of the Group, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in statement 
of changes in equity. 

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had net debt of $30,000,000 (30 June 2021: Nil). 
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NOTE 27: GROUP STRUCTURE 

a) Parent entity 
The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Mincor Resources NL.  

b) Subsidiaries 
 

Name of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 
Class of shares 

Equity holding 
2022 (%) 2021 (%) 

Mincor Operations Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Holdings Pty Ltd  Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Gold Pty Ltd  Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Copper Pty Ltd  Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Tungsten Pty Ltd  Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Zinc Pty Ltd  Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Goldfields Mine Management Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Coal Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Iron Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor PNG Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mincor Long Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 

c) Other arrangements 
The Group has the following arrangements with other entities: 

 

Name Principal activity 
Percentage interest 
2022 2021 

Carnilya Hill Joint Venture Nickel exploration 100 100 
Tottenham Copper Project1 Copper-gold exploration - 70.51 

1 In April 2021, the Company completed the sale of its interest in the Tottenham Project. Refer to Note 13 for further details. 
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NOTE 28: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
Share-based payments recognised during the financial year within the consolidated statement of profit or loss were as 
follows: 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Options issued - 142 

Performance Rights 2,328 768 

 2,328 910 

The movements in share-based payments reserves were as follows: 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Balance at beginning of year 1,430 1,197 

Option expense - 142 

Performance Rights expense  2,328 768 
Transfer between reserves arising from issued, lapsed and expired Options and 
Performance Rights 

(263) (677) 

Balance at end of year 3,495 1,430 

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of Options and Performance Rights at grant date 
issued to employees but not exercised. 

a) Options 
Details of the Options granted are set out below. 

 

Grant date 
Vesting 

date 
Expiry date 

Exercise 
price 

Fair value 
per option 

at grant 
date 

Opening 
balance 

Options Closing 
balance 

(Vested and 
exercisable) 

Vested Exercised Lapsed 

13 Mar 2019 1 Feb 2022 13 Mar 2024 $0.40 $0.1535 1,500,000 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 
13 Mar 2019 1 Feb 2022 13 Mar 2024 $0.50 $0.1304 1,500,000 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 

The weighted average contractual life of Options outstanding at the end of the period was 1.70 years (2021: 2.70). 
Further details of the Options including terms of grants and conditions are provided in the remuneration report. 

The fair value at grant date stated in the table above is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation methodology 
and takes into account the following inputs: 

 

Metric Options expiring 13 March 2024 

Exercise price $0.40 and $0.50 
Grant date 13 March 2019 
Expiry date 13 March 2024 
Share price at grant date $0.365 
Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares 49% 
Expected dividend yield 0% 
Risk-free interest rate 1.601% 
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b) Performance Rights 
Set out below are summaries of Performance Rights granted under the Employee Equity Incentive Plan: 

 

Grant date 
Performance 
measurement 

end date 

Outstanding 
Performance 

Rights at  
1 July 2021 

Granted 
during the 

year 
(number) 

Vested 
during the 

year 
(number) 

Exercised 
during the 

year 
(number) 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 
(number) 

Outstanding 
Performance Rights 

at 30 June 2022 

Unvested Vested 

13 Mar 2019 30 Jun 2022 1,404,889 - (983,422) - (421,467) - 983,422 
19 Mar 2019 30 Jun 2021 754,605  - - (218,464) (301,841) - 234,300 
15 Nov 2019 30 Jun 2022 1,397,593 - (871,023) - (526,570) - 871,023 
30 Oct 2020 30 Jun 2023 1,123,780 - - - (201,543) 922,237 - 
13 Nov 2020 30 Jun 2023 781,250 - - - (781,250) - - 
22 Feb 2021 30 Jun 2023 183,442 - - - (26,263) 157,179 - 
29 Apr 2021 30 Jun 2023 18,096 - - - - 18,096 - 
22 Sept 2021 31 Dec 2022 - 1,888,223 - - (262,967) 1,625,256 - 
24 Sep 2021 30 Jun 2024 - 1,503,188 - - (153,098) 1,350,090 - 
17 Dec 2021 30 Jun 2024 - 88,905 - - - 88,905 - 
22 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 - 180,998 - - (11,504) 169,494 - 
23 Dec 2021 30 Jun 2024 - 688,299 - - (688,299) - - 
6 May 2022 30 Jun 2023 - 92,237 - - - 92,237 - 

Total 5,663,655 4,441,850 (1,854,445) (218,464) (3,374,802) 4,423,494 2,088,745 

The weighted average fair value of the outstanding performance rights is $0.79 (2021: $0.43) and the average 
contractual life of Performance Rights outstanding at the end of the period was 2.7 years (2021: 3.2).  

Performance Rights over ordinary shares are granted under the Incentive Plan for nil cash consideration and expires 
2 years after the vesting of the performance rights. Further details of the Incentive Plan including terms of grants 
and performance hurdles are provided in the remuneration report. 

The fair value at grant date of performance rights issued to employees during the year, were determined using 
hybrid employee share option, hybrid single barrier option and Black-Scholes pricing model, depending on the 
relevant performance conditions attached to the award, and take into consideration the following inputs, together 
with the general terms attached to the performance rights: 

Metric 

Performance 
Rights issued to 

Managing 
Director 

Performance Rights granted to employees 

Grant date 23 Dec 2021 22 Sep 2021 24 Sep 2021 17 Dec 2021 22 Dec 2021 6 May 2022 

Share price at grant date $1.63 $1.29 $1.28 $1.39 $1.58 $2.23 

Expected price volatility of 
the Company’s shares 

50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.90% 0.005% 0.220% 1.00% 0.47% 2.760% 

c) Recognition and measurement 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Mincor Employee Equity Incentive Plan. 

The fair value of Options and Performance Rights granted under the Plan are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the 
period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the Options or Performance Rights. 
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22 Feb 2021 30 Jun 2023 183,442 - - - (26,263) 157,179 - 
29 Apr 2021 30 Jun 2023 18,096 - - - - 18,096 - 
22 Sept 2021 31 Dec 2022 - 1,888,223 - - (262,967) 1,625,256 - 
24 Sep 2021 30 Jun 2024 - 1,503,188 - - (153,098) 1,350,090 - 
17 Dec 2021 30 Jun 2024 - 88,905 - - - 88,905 - 
22 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2022 - 180,998 - - (11,504) 169,494 - 
23 Dec 2021 30 Jun 2024 - 688,299 - - (688,299) - - 
6 May 2022 30 Jun 2023 - 92,237 - - - 92,237 - 

Total 5,663,655 4,441,850 (1,854,445) (218,464) (3,374,802) 4,423,494 2,088,745 

The weighted average fair value of the outstanding performance rights is $0.79 (2021: $0.43) and the average 
contractual life of Performance Rights outstanding at the end of the period was 2.7 years (2021: 3.2).  

Performance Rights over ordinary shares are granted under the Incentive Plan for nil cash consideration and expires 
2 years after the vesting of the performance rights. Further details of the Incentive Plan including terms of grants 
and performance hurdles are provided in the remuneration report. 

The fair value at grant date of performance rights issued to employees during the year, were determined using 
hybrid employee share option, hybrid single barrier option and Black-Scholes pricing model, depending on the 
relevant performance conditions attached to the award, and take into consideration the following inputs, together 
with the general terms attached to the performance rights: 

Metric 

Performance 
Rights issued to 

Managing 
Director 

Performance Rights granted to employees 

Grant date 23 Dec 2021 22 Sep 2021 24 Sep 2021 17 Dec 2021 22 Dec 2021 6 May 2022 

Share price at grant date $1.63 $1.29 $1.28 $1.39 $1.58 $2.23 

Expected price volatility of 
the Company’s shares 

50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.90% 0.005% 0.220% 1.00% 0.47% 2.760% 

c) Recognition and measurement 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Mincor Employee Equity Incentive Plan. 

The fair value of Options and Performance Rights granted under the Plan are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the 
period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the Options or Performance Rights. 
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The fair value of the Options and Performance Rights at grant date is determined using various option valuation 
model appropriate to the instrument. Assumptions into the model excludes the impact of any non-market vesting 
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets) and are instead included in assumptions about the 
number of Options and Performance Rights that are expected to vest.  

At reporting date, the Group revises the estimate of the number of Options and Performance Rights that are 
expected to vest. The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent 
estimate. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is recognised in the statement of profit or loss with 
a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

d) Key estimates and judgements 

The valuation models used to fair value the Options and Performance Rights take into account the exercise price, 
the term of the options and performance rights, the vesting period, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature 
of the option, the share price at grant date and assumptions on the expected price volatility of the underlying share, 
the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option and performance rights.  

Additionally, assumptions are made about the number of Options and Performance Rights that are expected to 
vest, which could change from period to period. A change in any, or a combination, of these assumptions used in 
the valuation model could have a material impact on the total valuation of the Options and Performance Rights. 

NOTE 29: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Transactions with related parties are on normal commercial terms and at conditions no more favourable than those 
available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

a) Key management personnel (“KMP”) compensation 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits 2,504,765 2,147,898 
Post-employment benefits 125,300 109,202 
Long-term employment benefits (2,352) 23,997 
Share-based payments 498,335 646,388 

 3,126,048 2,927,485 

Disclosures relating to KMP remuneration are set out in the Remuneration Report. 

b) Transaction with other related parties 
There were no transactions with KMPs of the Group during the 2022 and 2021 financial years, other than those 
summarised above. 

NOTE 30: DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 
On 16 April 2020, a revocation deed was executed between Mincor Resources NL and Goldfields Mine Management Pty 
Ltd to revoke the deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the other. The deed also 
relieved the wholly-owned entity from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under ASIC 
Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (“ASIC”). 

The revocation deed was lodged with ASIC on 21 April 2020, advertised as required by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 
and became effective on 21 October 2020. 
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NOTE 31: PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

a) Summary financial information 
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts: 

 

 2022 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Statement of Financial Position   
Current assets 82,165 62,108 

Total assets 200,311 101,340 

Current liabilities 56,886 5,590 

Total liabilities 120,684 27,101 

Shareholders’ equity   
Issued capital 218,348 154,337 

Reserves   

- Share-based payments 3,715 1,430 

- Cash flow hedge reserve (53,398) (14,330) 

- Dividend distribution reserve 61,976 61,976 

Accumulated losses (151,014) (129,174) 

Total Shareholders’ equity 79,627 74,239 

Loss for the year (21,840) (12,068) 

Total comprehensive loss (21,840) (12,068) 

b) Guarantees entered into by the Parent entity 
As a result of the revocation of the cross guarantee as per Note 30, the parent guarantee between Mincor Resources 
NL and Goldfields Mine Management Pty Ltd is no longer effective.  

c) Contingent assets and liabilities of the Parent entity 
As 30 June 2022, the parent entity had no contingent assets and liabilities. At 30 June 2021, the parent had 
contingent assets which are detailed in Note 33. 

d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, the parent entity had contractual commitments, which are detailed in Note 34. 

e) Dividend distribution reserve 
Mincor Resources NL (the parent entity) established a separate reserve for the purpose of separately identifying 
profits from prior income years from which the parent entity may pay future dividends. This reserve is referred to 
as the “Dividend Distribution Reserve”. On the date of establishment, an amount of $61,976,000 was transferred 
from retained earnings to this reserve. Transferring amounts into this reserve creates no obligation on the parent 
entity to make dividend payments in the future. The parent entity will, at its sole discretion, assess on a period-by-
period basis whether to transfer any further profits into such reserves and also whether to subsequently declare 
and pay dividends. 
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f) Recognition and measurement 
The financial information for the parent entity, Mincor Resources NL, has been prepared on the same basis as the 
consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 

i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities 
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial 
statements of Mincor Resources NL.  

ii) Financial guarantees 
Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for 
no compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part 
of the cost of the investment. 

NOTE 32: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
The following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the Company’s auditors and other auditors providing 
audit services, and their related practices and non-related audit firms. 

 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australian firm    
Audit and review of financial statements under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 162,500 107,500 

Other services     
- Consulting services in relation to modelling assistance - 10,000  

Total remuneration to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 162,500 117,500 

NOTE 33: CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
There are no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: Nil).  

At 30 June 2021, the Company had a contingent asset in relation to a tenement sale agreement with Locksley Resources 
Limited (“Locksley”). The Company sold its 70.51% interest in the Tottenham Project located in New South Wales. The 
sales consideration included the following securities that were issued under a Prospectus for an Initial Public Offering 
(“IPO”): 

• 14,500,000 ordinary shares, subject to a two-year escrow period; and  

• 3,500,000 unlisted options in Locksley at an exercise price of $0.25, expiring in July 2023, also subject to a two-year 
escrow period. 

The IPO was completed and the securities were issued in July 2021. There were no contingent assets as at 30 June 2022. 

NOTE 34: COMMITMENTS 

a) Exploration expenditure commitments 
 2022 

$’000 
2021 
$’000 

Minimum exploration expenditure commitments relating to 
existing mineral tenements are as follows: 

  

 - Within one year 2,718 2,718 

To maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Group is required to perform minimum 
exploration work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by various State governments. These 
obligations are not provided for in the financial report and are payable within one year.  
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b) Capital commitments 
The Group has entered into a contract to build the Southern Operations Accommodation Village. At 30 June 2022, 
the Group has a remaining $5,466,000 commitment under the contract.  

In the previous year, the Group had entered into an agreement with BHP Billiton Nickel West Pty Ltd to build an 
electricity transmission infrastructure which will supply the Cassini Operation with grid power. The remaining future 
commitment for this arrangement at 30 June 2021 was $2,500,000. The power supply was connected in August 
2021. 

NOTE 35: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE 
Subsequent to 30 June 2022, Mr David Southam, Managing Director of the Company, resigned effective 12 August 2022. 
Ms Gabrielle Iwanow has been appointed to replace Mr Southam and will commence in November 2022. Mr Brett 
Lambert was appointed as Interim Executive Chairman during the transition period. 

There has been no other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group in the future financial years. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 

In the Directors’ opinion: 

a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 44 to 82 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), 
including: 

i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth) and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and 

ii) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and 

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable. 

Note 2 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Interim Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer required 
by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

Dated at Perth this 30th day of August 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
Brett Lambert 
Interim Executive Chairman 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation.  

 

  

  

IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReeppoorrtt  ttoo  tthhee  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  
MMiinnccoorr  RReessoouurrcceess  NNLL  
RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Mincor Resources NL (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

• Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial performance 
for the year then ended; and  
 

• Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

   

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Tower 2, Brookfield Place 
123 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 
GPO Box A46 
Perth WA 6837 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 8 9365 7000 
Fax:  +61 8 9365 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial report for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.  

KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr  HHooww  tthhee  ssccooppee  ooff  oouurr  aauuddiitt  rreessppoonnddeedd  ttoo  tthhee  KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr  

RReevveennuuee  rreeccooggnniittiioonn    

As disclosed in note 4 of the financial 
statements, revenue recognised for the 
sale of ore was $32.6 million for the year 
ended 30 June 2022. Adjustments 
associated with the remeasurement of 
trade debtors and fair value movements in 
relation to economic hedges amounted to 
$(5.1) million and $4.8 million respectively. 

As is customary in the sale of such 
commodities, the sale of nickel ore is 
subject to quotational pricing under the 
offtake agreement with BHP Nickel West.  

Revenue is required to be recognised at the 
time the performance obligation is 
satisfied, being the delivery of ore to the 
Kambalda Concentrator, and as such, the 
revenue recognised is based on market 
forward pricing. 

During the quotational period, the 
consideration receivable is remeasured for 
changes in the commodity price until final 
settlement occurs, with the fair value 
movements recognised separately to the 
related sale.  

Additionally, to manage the price risk 
between delivery and settlement, the 
company has executed economic hedges 
which are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.   

Both the quotational pricing, which impacts 
revenue and trade debtors, and the 
economic hedging increases the complexity 
of the Group’s recognition of revenue. 

 

  

  

Our procedures included, but were not limited to:  
 

• obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls 
management has in place in respect of revenue 
recognition, and hedge accounting; 

• assessed the revenue recognition policy against the 
requirements of AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers’; 

• obtaining an understanding of the Ore Tolling and 
Concentrate Purchase Agreement with BHP Nickel 
West, with regards to the transfer of control and 
consequent sale, and the contractual pricing terms; 

• agreeing the dry metric tonnes for a sample of parcels 
of ore delivered to BHP Nickel West to underlying 
support; 

• agreeing the assay results for sample of parcels to  third 
party reports; 

• assessing the forward pricing utilised for revenue 
recognition and subsequent remeasurement of trade 
debtors for reasonableness; 

• evaluating the fair value of the economic hedges at year 
end; and 

• assessing the independence, competence and 
objectivity of hedging experts used by management. 

 
We also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures included 
in Note 4 to the financial statements.  

AAccccoouunnttiinngg  ffoorr  MMiinnee  PPrrooppeerrttiieess  aanndd  
DDeevveellooppmmeenntt  

At 30 June 2022, the carrying value of 
mine properties and development assets 
amounts to $118.5 million as disclosed in 
Note 17. 

During the year the Group incurred $67.4 
million of capital expenditure related to 

  

 

In respect of the determination of commercial production our 
procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• assessing the Group’s policy with respect to 
determining when a mine has reached commercial 
production;  
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mine development assets, capitalised $0.9 
million of borrowing costs and recognised 
a related amortisation expense associated 
with Durkin North of $2.5 million. 

The accounting for underground 
operations includes a number of estimates 
and judgements, including: 

• the determination of when 
commercial production for an 
operation has commenced; 

• the allocation of mining costs 
between operating and capital 
expenditure; and 

• the determination of the units of 
production used to amortise 
development assets. 

  

• assessing the achievement of commercial production 
for Durkin North against the Group’s policy; and 

• ensuring the cessation of capitalisation of all costs 
(development and borrowing costs) and the 
commencement of amortisation has occurred in line 
with the determined achievement of commercial 
production. 

 

In respect of the allocation of mining costs our procedures 
included, but were not limited to: 

• obtaining an understanding of the key controls 
management has in place in relation to the 
capitalisation of both underground mining costs and the 
production of physical mining data; 

• on a sample basis, testing the mining costs through 
agreeing to source data; 

• assessing the completeness of mining costs; 

• assessing the allocation of costs between operating and 
capital expenditure based on the nature of the 
underlying activity; and  

• recalculating the allocation based on the underlying 
physical data.  

In respect of the Group’s unit of production amortisation 
calculations our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• obtaining an understanding of the key controls 
management has in place in relation to the calculation 
of the unit of production amortisation rate; 

• testing the mathematical accuracy of the rates applied; 
and 

• agreeing the inputs to source documentation, including: 

▪ agreeing the allocation of nickel tonnes to the 
specific mine development assets;  

▪ comparing the nickel tonnes to the applicable 
reserves statement; and 

▪ on a sample basis, agreeing the underlying 
physical data to external documentation. 

We also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures included 
in Note 17 to the financial statements.  

RReehhaabbiilliittaattiioonn  pprroovviissiioonn    

As at 30 June 2022 a rehabilitation 
provision of $13.7 million has been 
recognised as disclosed in Note 22. 

Judgement is required in the determination 
of the rehabilitation provision, including:  

• assumptions relating to the 
manner in which rehabilitation will 
be undertaken; 

• scope of rehabilitation activities 
and quantum of associated costs; 

 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to:  
• obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls 

management has in place to estimate the rehabilitation 
provision;  

• agreeing rehabilitation cost estimates to underlying 
support, including reports from external experts; 

• holding discussions with external experts to understand 
the key assumptions and estimates;  

• agreeing a sample of cost estimates to third party 
quotes; 
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• completeness of rehabilitation 
obligations given the continued 
development at the Kambalda 
Nickel Operations during the 
current period;   

• timing of the rehabilitation 
activities; and  

• the inflation and discount rates 
applied to the underlying cost 
estimate.  

• assessing the independence, competence and 
objectivity of experts used by management;  

• confirming the closure and related rehabilitation dates 
are consistent with the latest life of mine estimates;  

• comparing the inflation and discount rates to available 
market information; and 

• testing the mathematical accuracy of the rehabilitation 
provision.  

 
We also assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures included 
in Note 22 to the financial statements. 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.  
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  RReemmuunneerraattiioonn  RReeppoorrtt  

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 30 to 39 of the Directors’ Report for the year ended 
30 June 2022..  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Mincor Resources NL, for the year ended 30 June 2022, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 

 

DDEELLOOIITTTTEE  TTOOUUCCHHEE  TTOOHHMMAATTSSUU  

 

 

DDaavviidd  NNeewwmmaann  
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Perth, 30 August 2022 
 

 

Mincor Resources NL  |   Annual  Report  202288



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
CURRENT AS AT 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

 

Substantial Shareholders  
The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and 
their associates who have provided the Company with 
substantial shareholder notices are set out below: 

 

Name of substantial 
shareholder 

No. of shares % 

Wyloo Metals Pty Ltd,  
Tattarang Pty Ltd and 
John Andrew Henry Forrest 

72,912,979 15.05 

IGO Limited 34,861,667 7.2 

Distribution of Shareholders 
 

No. of shares 
held 

No. of 
shareholders 

No. of fully  
paid shares 

% 
Units 

1 to 1,000 2,228 1,288,474 0.26 
1,001 to 5,000 3,114 8,990,825 1.84 
5,001 to 10,000 1,387 11,319,454 2.32 
10,001 to 100,000 2,400 77,373,302 15.85 
100,001 and over 404 389,184,195 79.73 
Total 9,533 488,156,250 100.00 

Voting Rights 
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are that on a 
show of hands every member present in person or by proxy 
shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall carry 
one vote. 

Performance Rights do not carry voting rights. 

Number of Shareholders holding less than 
a marketable parcel 
390 shareholders (minimum parcel size of 239 shares/ 
$500 parcel at $2.10 per share). 

Securities Exchange Listing 
Mincor Resources NL shares are listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. The Company’s ASX Code is MCR. 

Unlisted Employee Performance Rights  
 

Range No. of holders No. of rights 

1 to 1,000 - - 
1,001 to 5,000 - - 
5,001 to 10,000 2 18,339 
10,001 to 100,000 25 1,230,631 
100,001 and over 13 3,840,417 
Total 40 5,089,389 

On-Market Buy Back 
There is no current on-market buy back. 

Corporate Governance Statement 
The Company’s 2022 Corporate Governance Statement can 
be accessed at: 

http://www.mincor.com.au/site/about/corporate-
governance. 

 

Listing of 20 Largest Shareholders 
 

No. Name of shareholder No. of shares held Percentage of 
shares held 

1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 114,352,638 23.43 
2 IGO LIMITED 34,861,667 7.14 
3 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 30,757,528 6.30 
4 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 27,158,243 5.56 
5 WARBONT NOMINEES PTY LTD <UNPAID ENTREPOT A/C> 11,925,274 2.44 
6 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 11,809,019 2.42 
7 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 11,188,752 2.29 
8 HISHENK PTY LTD 6,200,000 1.27 
9 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 4,256,595 0.87 
10 HILLBOI NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,912,000 0.80 
11 WILLOUGHBY CAPITAL PTY LTD <WILLOUGHBY CAPITAL A/C> 3,700,000 0.76 
12 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD ACF CLEARSTREAM 3,375,620 0.69 
13 ROSS SUTHERLAND PROPERTIES PTY LTD <SUTHERLAND FAMILY SF A/C> 3,370,364 0.69 
14 MRS LYNNETTE EDWARDS 3,349,723 0.69 
15 SPAR NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,261,938 0.67 
16 BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED <CNE3 – D67821 A/C> 3,004,473 0.62 
17 MR DAVID CHARLES MOORE 2,495,000 0.51 
18 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP> 2,456,792 0.50 
19 MR ANTHONY HUBERT SHIELDS 2,100,000 0.43 
20 BRAZIL FARMING PTY LTD 1,916,667 0.39 

 TOTAL  285,452,293 58.48 
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TENEMENT LIST 
AS AT 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

 

Lease Location Area of interest Status Expiry date Mincor’s interest Mineral rights 
L15/401 Kambalda Bluebush Application    
M 15/49 Kambalda Bluebush Granted 14/02/2026 100% All 
M 15/63 Kambalda Bluebush Granted 03/01/2026 100% All 
ML 15/494 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/495 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/498 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/499 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/500 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/501 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/502 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/504 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/506 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/507 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/508 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/509 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/510 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/511 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/512 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/513 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/514 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/515 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/516 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/517 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/518 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/519 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/520 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/521 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/522 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2039 100% All 
ML 15/523 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/524 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/525 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
L 26/241 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 09/08/2028 100% Infrastructure 
L26/279 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 01/10/2038 100% Infrastructure 
L26/280 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 01/10/2038 100% Infrastructure 
M 26/453 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 14/12/2036 100% All except Au 
M 26/47 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Au 
M 26/48 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Au 
M 26/49 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Au 
East 48 Lot 11-1 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All 
East 48 Lot 11-2 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All  
East 48 Lot 11-3 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All 
East 48 Lot 12 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All 
East 48 Lot 13 Kambalda Long Freehold N/A 100% All 
E 15/1442 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 17/03/2025 100% All 

E 15/989 Kambalda Widgiemooltha 
Granted – pending 
renewal application 

11/08/2022 100% All except Ni 

E15/1895 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
E15/1933 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
L 15/143 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 07/08/2025 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/162 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% Infrastructure 
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TENEMENT LIST 
AS AT 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

 

Lease Location Area of interest Status Expiry date Mincor’s interest Mineral rights 
L15/401 Kambalda Bluebush Application    
M 15/49 Kambalda Bluebush Granted 14/02/2026 100% All 
M 15/63 Kambalda Bluebush Granted 03/01/2026 100% All 
ML 15/494 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/495 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/498 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/499 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/500 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/501 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/502 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/504 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/506 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/507 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/508 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/509 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/510 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/511 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/512 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/513 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/514 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/515 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/516 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/517 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/518 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/519 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/520 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/521 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/522 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2039 100% All 
ML 15/523 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/524 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
ML 15/525 Widgiemooltha Bluebush Granted 31/12/2038 100% All 
L 26/241 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 09/08/2028 100% Infrastructure 
L26/279 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 01/10/2038 100% Infrastructure 
L26/280 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 01/10/2038 100% Infrastructure 
M 26/453 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 14/12/2036 100% All except Au 
M 26/47 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Au 
M 26/48 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Au 
M 26/49 Kambalda Carnilya Hill Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Au 
East 48 Lot 11-1 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All 
East 48 Lot 11-2 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All  
East 48 Lot 11-3 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All 
East 48 Lot 12 Kambalda Otter-Juan Freehold N/A 100% All 
East 48 Lot 13 Kambalda Long Freehold N/A 100% All 
E 15/1442 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 17/03/2025 100% All 

E 15/989 Kambalda Widgiemooltha 
Granted – pending 
renewal application 

11/08/2022 100% All except Ni 

E15/1895 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
E15/1933 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
L 15/143 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 07/08/2025 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/162 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% Infrastructure 

TENEMENT LIST 
AS AT 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

 

Lease Location Area of interest Status Expiry date Mincor’s interest Mineral rights 
L 15/163 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/191 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 13/02/2025 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/235 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 16/12/2023 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/243 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 15/10/2024 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/247 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 26/05/2025 100% Infrastructure 
L 15/257 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 31/08/2025 100% Infrastructure 
L15/325 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 03/09/2033 100% Infrastructure 
L15/338 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 24/07/2033 100% Infrastructure 
L15/378 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 13/08/2039 100% Infrastructure 
L15/390 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 26/08/2040 100% Infrastructure 
L15/428 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
M 15/103 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 11/12/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/105 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/1457 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 10/01/2033 100% All 
M 15/1458 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 10/01/2033 100% All 
M 15/1459 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 10/01/2033 100% All 
M 15/1476 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 10/01/2033 100% All 
M 15/1481 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 15/11/2025 100% All 
M 15/44 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 14/02/2026 100% All 
M 15/45 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 14/02/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/46 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 14/02/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/462 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 19/10/2031 100% All 
M 15/478 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 02/08/2032 100% All except Ni 
M 15/48 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 13/02/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/543 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 14/01/2033 100% All 
M 15/601 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 11/11/2033 100% All 
M 15/609 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 11/11/2033 100% All 
M 15/611 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 28/05/2034 100% All 
M 15/634 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 18/02/2035 100% All 
M 15/635 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 18/02/2035 100% All 
M 15/667 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 19/10/2035 100% All 
M 15/668 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 19/10/2035 100% All 
M 15/693 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 06/04/2036 100% All except Ni 
M 15/734 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 16/10/2036 100% All 
M 15/745 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 01/12/2036 100% All 
M 15/76 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All 
M 15/77 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/78 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/79 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/80 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 06/09/2026 100% All except Ni 
M 15/81 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All 
M 15/82 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All 
M 15/83 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All 
M 15/85 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All 
M 15/86 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 21/10/2026 100% All 
M 15/88 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/89 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/90 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/907 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 30/04/2040 100% All 
M 15/91 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 30/05/2026 100% All 
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TENEMENT LIST 
AS AT 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

Lease Location Area of interest Status Expiry date Mincor’s interest Mineral rights 
M 15/92 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/93 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/94 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Ni 
M15/1830 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 16/03/2038 100% All 

P 15/5808 Kambalda Widgiemooltha 
Converting into 

M15/1895 
15/01/2022 100% All 

P 15/5911 Kambalda Widgiemooltha 
Converting into 

M15/1871 
05/05/2019 100% All 

P 15/5934 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 24/02/2023 100% All 
P15/6260 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 07/04/2023 100% All 
P15/6536 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/04/2024 100% All 
M15/1871 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
M15/1895 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
ML 15/131 Kambalda Long Granted 31/12/2029 100% All except Au 
ML 15/140 Kambalda Long Granted 31/12/2029 100% All except Au 
M15/1761 Kambalda Long Granted 05/10/2027 100% All except Au 
M15/1762 Kambalda Long Granted 05/10/2027 100% All except Au 
M15/1763 Kambalda Long Granted 05/10/2027 100% All except Au 
M26/317 Kambalda Long Granted 10/07/2031 100% All except Au 
M26/491 Kambalda Long Granted 03/06/2040 100% All except Au 
M15/1515 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1519 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1520 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1521 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1522 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 

E = Exploration Licence (WA); M = Mining Lease; P = Prospecting Licence; ML = Mineral Lease (WA); L = Miscellaneous Licence 
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TENEMENT LIST 
AS AT 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 

Lease Location Area of interest Status Expiry date Mincor’s interest Mineral rights 
M 15/92 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/93 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/08/2026 100% All 
M 15/94 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 30/05/2026 100% All except Ni 
M15/1830 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 16/03/2038 100% All 

P 15/5808 Kambalda Widgiemooltha 
Converting into 

M15/1895 
15/01/2022 100% All 

P 15/5911 Kambalda Widgiemooltha 
Converting into 

M15/1871 
05/05/2019 100% All 

P 15/5934 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 24/02/2023 100% All 
P15/6260 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 07/04/2023 100% All 
P15/6536 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Granted 05/04/2024 100% All 
M15/1871 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
M15/1895 Kambalda Widgiemooltha Application    
ML 15/131 Kambalda Long Granted 31/12/2029 100% All except Au 
ML 15/140 Kambalda Long Granted 31/12/2029 100% All except Au 
M15/1761 Kambalda Long Granted 05/10/2027 100% All except Au 
M15/1762 Kambalda Long Granted 05/10/2027 100% All except Au 
M15/1763 Kambalda Long Granted 05/10/2027 100% All except Au 
M26/317 Kambalda Long Granted 10/07/2031 100% All except Au 
M26/491 Kambalda Long Granted 03/06/2040 100% All except Au 
M15/1515 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1519 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1520 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1521 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 
M15/1522 Kambalda SIGMC Long Granted 23/12/2025 0% Ni rights only 

E = Exploration Licence (WA); M = Mining Lease; P = Prospecting Licence; ML = Mineral Lease (WA); L = Miscellaneous Licence 
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DIRECTORS
Brett Lambert (Chairman)  
Michael Bohm  
Liza Carpene 
Peter Bewick

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shannon Coates

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level 1  
8 Richardson Street  
West Perth 6005 
Western Australia

POSTAL ADDRESS
PO Box 1810 
West Perth 6872 
Western Australia

CONTACT DETAILS
Telephone: (+618) 9476 7200 
Website:	www.mincor.com.au  
Email: mincor@mincor.com.au

SECURITIES EXCHANGE LISTING
Mincor Resources NL shares are listed  
on the Australian Securities Exchange  
(Home Branch – Perth)

ASX Code: MCR

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
Tower 2, Brookfield Place 
123 St Georges Terrace 
Perth 6000 
Western Australia

SOLICITORS
Gilbert + Tobin 
Level 16, Brookfield Place 
Tower 2, 123 St Georges Terrace  
Perth 6000 
Western Australia

SHARE REGISTRY
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd  
Level 11, 172 St Georges Terrace 
Perth 6000 
Western Australia

DATE AND LOCATION OF  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Friday, 4 November 2022 at 10:00am 
Central Park  
152-158 St Georges Terrace 
Perth 6000 
Western Australia
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